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PART I

Item 1. Business

This Annual Report on Form 10-K contains forwardlimg statements regarding our business, financial
condition, results of operations and prospects. #fg@uch as “expects,” “anticipates,” “intends,” “@ns,”
“believes,” “seeks,” “estimates,” “thinks,” “may,” “could,” “will,” “would,” “should,” “continue,” “po  tential,”
“likely,” “opportunity” and similar expressions owariations of such words are intended to identifyMard-looking
statements, but are not the exclusive means ofifigag forward-looking statements in this Annuad®rt.
Additionally, statements concerning future matsarsh as the development or regulatory approvalesy products
enhancements of existing products or technologfirsl party performance under key collaboration agments,
revenue and expense levels and other statemeragedieg matters that are not historical are forwalabking
statements.

”ou ”u ” ” i, ” ow ” o LT

Although forward-looking statements in this AnnRabort reflect the good faith judgment of our masragnt,
such statements can only be based on facts amt$amirrently known by us. Consequently, forwarmklng
statements are inherently subject to risks and tat#ies and actual results and outcomes may diffaterially
from the results and outcomes discussed in or igatied by the forwar-looking statements. Factors that could
cause or contribute to such differences in resaid outcomes include without limitation those désad under the
heading “Risk Factors” below, as well as those disged elsewhere in this Annual Report. Readersramed not to
place undue reliance on these forw-looking statements, which speak only as of the dathis Annual Report. We
undertake no obligation to revise or update anyvind-looking statements in order to reflect anyree
circumstance that may arise after the date of #riaual Report. Readers are urged to carefully nenaed consider
the various disclosures made in this Annual Repuanich attempt to advise interested parties ofritles and factor:
that may affect our business, financial conditi@sults of operations and prospects.

Overview

We are a biopharmaceutical company dedicated tdetielopment and commercialization of productseting
the extracellular matrix, or Matrix, for the endimaiogy, oncology, dermatology and drug deliveryrkeds. Our
existing products and our products under developmenbased primarily on intellectual property aavg the
family of human enzymes known as hyaluronidases.

Our operations to date have been limited to orgagiand staffing our operating subsidiary, Halozyine.,
acquiring, developing and securing our technolagy endertaking product development for our exispngducts
and product candidates. Over the last year, weasad our focus on our proprietary product pipedimeé expanded
investments in our proprietary product candidafrs. key partnerships are with F. Hoffmann-La Rodtid,and
Hoffmann-La Roche, Inc., or Roche, to apply EnhdMZEechnology to Roche’s biological therapeutic compuitsi
for up to thirteen targets and with Baxter Healtkd@orporation, or Baxter, to apply Enhanze Teabgwko
Baxter’s biological therapeutic compound, GAMMAGARIQUID ™ . We have two marketed products:
HYLENEX, a registered trademark of Baxter Interoaéil, Inc., a product used as an adjuvant to irseréiae
absorption and dispersion of other injected drugkfaids, and Cumulas®, a product used fan vitro fertilization,
or IVF. Currently, we have only limited revenuerfrdhe sales of HYLENEX and Cumulase, in additioneeenues
from our partnerships with Baxter and Roche.

We have product candidates in the research, prealiand clinical stages, but future revenues ftbensales of
products will depend on our ability to develop, miatture, obtain regulatory approvals for and sssfgly
commercialize product candidates. It may be yabeser, before we are able to obtain regulatoryrapals for
these product candidates. We have incurred nettipgriosses each year since inception, with anraotated
deficit of approximately $113.6 million as of Deceen 31, 2008.

We currently have an effective universal shelf sggtion statement which allows us to offer andlgelto
$50.0 million of equity or debt securities and waynutilize this universal shelf in the future téaseacapital to fund
the continued development of our product candidabescommercialization of our products or for atheneral
corporate purposes.
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We reincorporated from the State of Nevada to theeSf Delaware in November 2007. Our principdices
and research facilities are located at 11388 Stwréalley Road, San Diego, California 92121. Olepéone
number is (858) 794-8889 and our e-mail addresgaghalozyme.com. Additional information about the
Company can be found on our website at www.halozgome, and in our periodic and current reports fiéth the
Securities and Exchange Commission, or SEC. Capiear current and periodic reports filed with BEC are
available at the SEC Public Reference Room at 40 Htreet, N.W., Washington, D.C. 20549, and oalat
www.sec.gov and our website at www.halozyme.com.

Technology

Our technology is based on our proprietary recoartihuman PH20 enzyme, or rHUPH20, a human syatheti
version of hyaluronidase. Hyaluronidases are engymeteins) that break down hyaluronan, or HA,clhis a
naturally occurring space-filling, géike substance that is a major component of tistugsighout the body, such
skin and bone. The PH20 enzyme is a naturally eicguenzyme that digests HA to temporarily brealwdahe gel
thereby facilitating the penetration and diffusafrother drugs and fluids that are injected untlergkin or in the
muscle. Our proprietary technology is applicablendtiple therapeutic areas and may be used todsqthnd
existing markets and create new ones. Our techpot@y be utilized for the development of our owoppietary
products. For example, we are developing a PEGYMaesion of our rHUPH20 enzyme, or PEGPH20, thaking
tested as a single agent oncology therapy. The RiH20me may also be applied to existing and devedopal
products of third parties through key partnerships.

Strategy

We are a biopharmaceutical company dedicated tdetielopment and commercialization of productseting
the Matrix for the endocrinology, oncology, dermagry and drug delivery markets. The Matrix is a kéyctural
component found in both normal tissues such asakihbone, and abnormal tissues such as tumomxignding
upon our scientific expertise in the Matrix, we bdp develop therapeutic and aesthetic drugs. €aat ¢énzyme,
rHUPH20 hyaluronidase, is an example of a Matrixdifyging enzyme. By degrading HA, a key Matrix compeaot
in the skin, rHUPH20 facilitates the delivery ofigs and fluids through the Matrix and into circidat While
rHUPH20 is the underlying drug delivery technoladyoth HYLENEX for generic small molecules andidis, and
Enhanze Technology for proprietary small and lamggecules, we are seeking ways to combine or aouitate
rHUPH20 with previously approved small moleculegdrio develop new proprietary products, with pagdigtnew
patent protection. Other benefits include patiemvenience.

We are also expanding our scientific work in thetii4sby developing other enzymes and agents thigeta
unique aspects of the Matrix, giving rise to patiew molecular entities targeting indicationemdocrinology,
oncology and dermatology. For instance, we areldpireg a formulation of rHUPH20 and insulin for ttieatment
of diabetes mellitus. We are also developing a PEZEPenzyme that lasts longer in the bloodstream,raay
therefore better target solid tumors by clearingyatihe surrounding HA and reducing the interstitisid pressure
within malignant tumors to allow better penetratiynchemotherapeutic agents. In addition, we aveldping a
Matrix-modifying enzyme that targets componentthefskin and subcutaneous tissues that may hatie bot
therapeutic and aesthetic applications within déofogy. Key aspects of our corporate strategy idelthe
following:

« Develop our own proprietary products based on &12Penzyme and other new molecular entit
« Seek partnerships for our Enhanze Technology deligedy platform;
« Support product development and commercializatimhen our Roche Enhanze Technology collabora

« Support product development and commercializatimhen our Baxter Bioscience Enhanze Technology
collaboration; ant

Support Baxte's commercialization of HYLENEX
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Products and Product Candidates

There are two marketed products that utilize ochitelogy and there are multiple product candid&tegeting
several indications in various stages of developniére following table summarizes the proprietang partnered
products and product candidates that utilize ochirtelogy:

Bisphosphonate-
PH20

Endocrnology

Chaleaporosis

Products and Therapeutic Target Pre- Filed for | Marketed
Product Candidates| ~ Arca Indication(s} | Clinical = Phasel | Phase Il | Phase Il | Approval | Product
Proprierary Product Candidares
Insulin-PH20 Endocrinology | Diabetes

PEGPHZ0 Oncology Solid tumors
Chemophase Oncology Bladder cancer
HTI-5001 Dermatology | Dermatology
Pariered Product Candidates
Roche - Targer “A™
Undisclosed e
up to 13 targets Target “B”
Primary
Baxter BioScience - [mmiuno=
GAMMAGARD  |Immunology | deficiency _
Approved Provduces
Small molecule
HYLENEX Various and
i detivery | S
Cumulase n vitro I witro
T e L e B
Insulin-PH20

One of our proprietary programs focuses on the @itaron of our lead enzyme rHuPH20 and insulintfa
treatment of diabetes mellitus. Diabetes mellituan increasingly prevalent, costly condition agged with
substantial morbidity and mortality. Attaining amintaining normal blood sugar levels to minimize tong-term
clinical risks is a key treatment goal for diabgtatients. Combining rHUPH20 with insulin may faaile faster
insulin spreading from the subcutaneous spacehetoascular compartment leading to faster ing@lgponse and
improved glycemic control potentially resultingfewer hypoglycemic episodes. By making mealtimelinsfaster,
i.e., shifting insulin exposure and glucose lowgrattivity to earlier times and away from late poandial times,
combination with rHUPH20 may yield a profile of iti& kinetics and activity more like that of natyrendogenous
prandial insulin release.

In November 2008, we started a Phase |l clinidal af rHuPH20 formulations with Humulii R (regular
insulin) and Humalo@ (insulin lispro) in Type 1 diabetic patients. Thkigploratory, crossover design, single blind,
open label, liquid meal Phase Il study is desigioecbllect data on at least 20 patients who corepiled study. The
study allows for insulin dose titration and eacligrd will receive a minimum of four and up to teradditional
study drug injections that include Humulin R andliog with and without rHUPH20.
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The primary endpoint of this study, a pharmacokineteasure, is the area under the curve for plassugin
concentration from zero to 60 minutes after infattiSecondary endpoints include additional pharikiaetic data,
as well as blood glucose concentration at variome points. Safety data such as adverse reactigpsglycemia,
blood chemistry and injection site tolerability ik collected, measured and evaluated. Patienfdman study fc
up to an estimated 14 weeks from screening to cetiopl and the results should be available for priadion at a
medical or scientific forum in mid-2009.

In June 2008, we announced data from our Phageidalltrial showing that combining rHUPH20 with kulin
R or Humalog yielded pharmacokinetics and glucodyina that better mimicked physiologic prandial (ftiege)
insulin release and activity than either HumulimiRHumalog alone. The Phase | crossover, euglycelaimp stud
was conducted in 26 healthy male volunteers. Tindyshad two stages: the first stage compared the
pharmacokinetics and glucodynamics of Humalog tegsubcutaneously with and without rHUPH20, ard th
second stage compared the pharmacokinetics anddyilmamics of Humulin R injected subcutaneously il
without rHUPH20.

Key pharmacokinetic and glucodynamic improvemebtseoved in the study included:

« Significantly faster systemic absorption of eactuiin, starting with the first observation time poof three
minutes after injectio

« Significantly faster and greater glucose loweriotivity early after injectior
« Significantly greater peak insulin levels for tlaere dose administer:
« Significantly lower variability of key pharmacokitie and glucodynamic variables across subj

e rHUPH20 in combination with Humulin demonstrateatistically significant improvement across all
parameters when compared to Humalog a

Bisphosphonate-PH20

Bisphosphonates are a class of molecules thattbimineralized bone matrix and inhibit bone resiorpt
Currently, there are both oral and intravenoushmsphonates available commercially. Oral bisphosates often
cause gastrointestinal side effects and requiteveersome dosing regimen. The gastrointestinalefféets of oral
bisphosphonates may lead to patient nomypliance to prescribed therapy. Certain bisphosates are indicated 1
the treatment of osteoporosis and skeletal mewstast can only be administered today by intrausnofusion. As
such, patients often have to travel to an infusienter or see a specialist to receive their inttaus bisphosphonate
infusion. Subcutaneous injections of bisphosphanate not considered feasible due to injectionrsietions in the
skin and/or impractical injection volumes.

The goal of our bisphosphonate program is to peosid alternative dosage formulation that may ajfeater
convenience, compliance and tolerability to patidat the treatment of osteoporosis. If rHUPH20llmgmidase can
rapidly disperse, dilute and facilitate the systeaisorption of subcutaneous bisphosphonates yitmevent local
irritation and provide a more convenient route a@dnénistration. We completed studies in animal msdel
investigate whether increasing the dispersion dsomption of bisphosphonates in the skin and salneaus tissues
with rHUPH20 could modify injection site reactiorofiles from two intravenous bisphosphonate forrtiates,
zoledronic acid and ibandronate. The pharmacokiseti bisphosphonates in blood were also examindd a
compared to intravenous infusion. Key findings friiva studies were as follows:

* In rodent intradermal models, injection of bisphumpates without rHUPH20 created injection site tieas
characterized by erythema, induration and ulcemndtica concentration dependent man

« In rodent intradermal models, the maximal conceiwineof bisphosphonates that could be administered
without producing injection site reactions was @ased 3- to 5-fold when co-administered in comimnat
with rHUPH20.

* In porcine pharmacokinetic models, absolute bidatdity by subcutaneous injection with rHuPH20 was
comparable to IV infusior




Table of Contents

In the fourth quarter of 2008, we initiated a Phiasinical trial for a bisphosphonate administereith
rHUPH20 as a subcutaneous injection. This studyexplore the safety, tolerability and pharmacokizseof
subcutaneous administration of a bisphosphonaterpluPH20.

PEGPH20

We are investigating our PEGPH20 enzyme as a catedfdr the systemic treatment of tumors with Higrels
of HA. PEGylation refers to the attachment of pthygeneglycol to our rHUPH20 enzyme, which extentsialf
life in the blood from less than 30 seconds to ntbam 24 hours. HA is a component of the Matrix fhequently
accumulates in human cancers. The quantity of Fb&lpeced by the tumor cells correlates with incredaetbr
growth and metastasis and has been linked with tgmagression and poor prognosis in some studieanimal
studies, the removal of HA from tumors with hyalidase has demonstrated reduction of tumor groavtti,in
some experiments, enhanced efficacy of certaincamicer drugs. Increased sensitivity to chemotleriapagents
may be achieved once the HA has been removed.

Numerous solid tumors, including prostate, brgaetcreas and colon, accumulate HA that forms aliledo
coating over the surface of the tumor cell. In pnézal studies, PEGPH20 has been shown to remuwe t
HA coating surrounding several tumor cell linesedtment of PC3 (a prostate cancer cell line thadyres HA)
tumor bearing mice with PEGPH20 as a single agemtahstrated a slowing of tumor growth relativedateols.
Repeat dosing with PEGPH20 produced a sustainddtaepof HA in the tumor microenvironment. For tam
models that did not produce HA, the presence of PIHZD had no effect.

We performed certain preclinical studies to deteemwhether HA-dependent pericellular matrices pcedu
in vitro andin vivoby a hormone-refractory prostate cancer cell lingat be enzymatically depleted in prostate
carcinoma xenografts following intravenous admiaisbn of the PEGPH20 enzyme. The dose-dependitt&nf
systemic enzyme treatment were evaluated by a eatibn of direct micropressure measurements, magnet
resonance imaging, or MRI, ultrasound, immunohisémaistry and determination of tumor water cont&he
studies explored the physiologic responses to eatigmremoval of HA-based matrices surrounding tugalls in
the tumor microenvironment of prostate tumors felly systemic administration of PEGPH20. Prostatedrs
were grown around the bone as a model of elevatedkstitial fluid pressure, or IFP. Treatment comoed when
tumors had reached approximately 500 Aimsize and pressure within the tumor had reacl@ed3mm Hg.

A summary of findings is as follows:

« Prostate carcinoma cells assembled large periaelhalatsn vitro that collapsed in the presence of rHUPF
Similar pericellular matrices containing HA were@abhssembleith vivo following inoculation of tumors
around the bone in mic

« PEGPH20 significantly reduced tumor IFP in a dosgethdent fashion, achieving more than 85% reduction
in IFP following IV administration. Peritumoral HAemained depleted over three days after a single db
enzyme

« Consistent with the histologic collapse of perigkl HA surrounding the tumor cells, tumor watentemt
significantly decreased over three days, consistithtchanges detected in the tumor by MRI and IFP
monitoring.

Furthermore, a 3.5-fold selective increase in tumascular volume was achieved within eight hours
as a result of vascular decompression of bloodelesgthin the tumor, which was confirmed by hiswy and
ultrasound.

We recently initiated a first Phase | clinical tfier our PEGPH20 program. This first trial withetlagent is a
dose-escalation, multicenter, pharmacokinetic dradmpacodynamic, safety study. Patients with advéisoéd
tumors will receive intravenous administration &&PH20 as a single agent.

Chemophase

Chemophase is an investigative drug being develégeaabtential use in the treatment of patientdwit
superficial bladder cancer. Our Chemophase prog@mbines our PH20 enzyme with mitomycin C, a cytmto
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drug, for direct administration into the bladdemniediately after transurethral resection of bladderors, a standa
surgical treatment for the disease. Many bladd@oticells produce high quantities of HA and thestment to
remove the HA coating could increase their expoturaitomycin C. This may lead to a lower recureo€ the
cancer and a better prognosis for patients.

In June 2008, we announced the results of a PAéselinical trial in which Chemophase was welleiated
and appears safe. The study reported no doseHuntibixicities and no observed side effects attable to the
enzyme, and established the dose for subsequeitatlirials, therefore achieving the pre-defineidnary objective
of the study. In addition, there were no neutrafizantibodies to rHUPH20 detected and the plasmeetdration of
mitomycin C was either non-measureable or negkgérid well below the threshold that may be predididr
myelosuppression (such as a decrease in bone maatosty, resulting in fewer red blood cells, wiblood cells
and platelets). During the first quarter of 200@, @ecided to reallocate certain resources prewidusigeted for
Chemophase to other higher priority programs, siscour Insulin-PH20 and PEGPH20 programs. We arercily
exploring strategic alternatives that will allowet@hemophase program to continue its clinical dgprakent.

Enhanze Technology

Enhanze Technology, a proprietary drug enhanceapmgroach using rHUPH20, is a broad technologywieat
have licensed to other pharmaceutical companiegrvVitbrmulated with other injectable drugs, Enhaheehnolog
may facilitate the subcutaneous penetration anuedison of these drugs by temporarily opening fetannels
under the skin. Molecules as large as 200 nanometay pass freely through the extracellular matvixich
recovers its normal density within approximatelyl®rs, leading to a drug delivery platform whigied not
permanently alter the architecture of the skin. phecipal focus of our Enhanze Technology platfasrthe use of
rHUPH20 to facilitate subcutaneous route of adriai®n for large molecule biological therapeutiéstential
benefits of subcutaneous administration of biolsgiclude life cycle management, patient convergeard benefit
to payors.

We currently have Enhanze Technology partnershitis Roche and Baxter and we are currently seeking
additional partnerships with pharmaceutical comgsthat market or develop drugs that could befrefit injectior
via the subcutaneous route of administration.

Roche Partnership

In December 2006, Halozyme and Roche entered mindianze Technology partnership, or Roche
Partnership. Under the terms of the Roche PartiperRoche obtained a worldwide, exclusive licertsddvelop an
commercialize product combinations of rHUPH20 apdauthirteen Roche target compounds resulting filoen
collaboration. Under the terms of the Roche Pastripr we were obligated to scale up the produatfoiduPH20
and to identify a second source manufacturer tloafdvhelp meet anticipated production obligatiorisiag from
the partnership. To that end, during 2008, we entérto a Technology Transfer Agreement and a &irsupply
Agreement with a second rHUPH20 manufacturer. fitaaufacturer has the capacity to produce the dlinic
guantities we are required to deliver under thengeof the Roche Partnership and, we believe, thereercial
guantities as well. The technology transfer wasmetad in 2008 with scale-up and clinical supplynefacturing
planned for 2009.

Roche initially had the exclusive right to applyuPH20 to only three pre-defined Roche biologic égsgvith
the option to exclusively develop and commerciatidaPH20 with an additional ten targets. Pendirggsiccessful
completion of various clinical, regulatory and sadwents, Roche will be obligated to make milestuagments to
us as well as royalty payments on the sales ofymtsdhat result from the partnership. In Decen2$)8, we
announced that Roche elected to add a fourth axeltarget to the three original exclusive targats] we
previously announced the commencement of Phaseidalltrials for products directed at two of thdear
exclusive targets. Roche retains the option tousietly develop and commercialize rHUPH20 with ddional
nine targets through the payment of annual licenamtenance fees.
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Baxter Gammagard Partnershi

GAMMAGARD LIQUID is a current Baxter product that indicated for the treatment of primary
immunodeficiency disorders associated with defecthe immune system. In September 2007, Halozymde a
Baxter entered into an Enhanze Technology partigerehthe Gammagard Partnership. Under the tefrtisi®
partnership, Baxter obtained a worldwide, exclusisense to develop and commercialize product coatimns of
rHUPH20 with GAMMAGARD LIQUID. Pending the succegssEompletion of various regulatory and sales
milestones, Baxter will be obligated to make mi@st payments to us as well as royalty paymentb@sdles of
products that result from the partnership. Baxdeesponsible for all development, manufacturitigjaal,
regulatory, sales and marketing costs under thenGagard Partnership, while we will be responsibletie supply
of the rHUPH20 enzyme. In addition, Baxter hasatemproduct development and commercialization atians in
major markets identified in the Gammagard Licehsdanuary of 2009, we announced the commencenfi@nt o
Phase Il clinical trial for GAMMAGARD LIQUID withrHuPH20.

HYLENEX Partnership

HYLENEX is a human recombinant formulation of rHUBHthat, when injected under the skin, facilitates
absorption and dispersion of other injected drugtuals. In February 2007, Halozyme and Baxter adeal certain
existing agreements relating to HYLENEX and enténéd a new agreement for kits and formulationdhwit
rHUPH20, or the HYLENEX Partnership. Pending thecessful completion of a series of regulatory aaddss
events, Baxter will be obligated to make milestpagments to us as well as royalty payments onales of
products that result from the partnership. Baxgeesponsible for development, manufacturing, céihiregulatory,
sales and marketing costs of the products coveyddebHYLENEX Partnership. We will continue to slypBaxter
with the active pharmaceutical ingredient for HYLEX| and Baxter will prepare, fill, finish and pacgia
HYLENEX and hold it for subsequent distribution.dddition, under the HYLENEX Partnership, Baxtes ha
worldwide, exclusive license to develop and comradime product combinations of rHUPH20 with Baxtgdratior
fluids and generic small molecule drugs, with theeption of combinations with (i) bisphosphonatesywell as
(i) cytostatic and cytotoxic chemotherapeutic @gethe rights to which have been retained by Hatez

Cumulase

Cumulase is aex vivo(used outside of the body) formulation of rHuPH&0dplace the bovine (bull) enzyme
currently used for the preparation of oocytes (gggser to IVF during the process of intracytoplasmperm
injection (ICSI), in which the enzyme is an essginidomponent. Cumulase strips away the HA thabsuas the
oocyte, allowing the clinician to then perform &SI procedure.

Patents and Proprietary Rights

Patents and other proprietary rights are essdnt@lr business. Our success will depend in padusrability
to obtain patent protection for our inventionspteserve our trade secrets and to operate withéninging the
proprietary rights of third parties. Our strategya actively pursue patent protection in the UhBates and certain
foreign jurisdictions for technology that we beketo be proprietary to us and that offers us antiaiecompetitive
advantage. Our patent portfolio includes six isspagnts and a number of pending patent applicatie are the
exclusive licensee of the University of Connectigntler a patent covering the DNA sequence thatdasxcbuman
hyaluronidase. This patent expires in 2015. We lpatent applications pertaining to recombinant huma
hyaluronidase and their methods of manufacture lwliéssued, would expire in 2024. We believe patent filings
represent a barrier to entry for potential compeditooking to utilize these hyaluronidases.

In addition to patents, we rely on unpatented tisetwets, proprietary know-how and continuing tedbgical
innovation. We seek protection of these trade $ggpeoprietary know-how and innovation, in pantough
confidentiality and proprietary information agreertse Our policy is to require our employees, divest
consultants, advisors, partners, outside sciertifitaborators and sponsored researchers, othéaxshand other
individuals and entities to execute confidentialifreements upon the start of employment, conguttirother
contractual relationships with us. These agreenmotade that all confidential information develaper made
known to the individual or entity during the coursfehe relationship is to be kept confidential avud
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disclosed to third parties except in specific anstiances. In the case of employees and some a@hersp the
agreements provide that all inventions conceivethkyindividual will be our exclusive property. [pée the use of
these agreements and our efforts to protect oeliéctual property, there will always be a riskuofauthorized use
or disclosure of information. Furthermore, our agcrets may otherwise become known to, or bgéarkently
developed by, our competitors.

We also file trademark applications to protectrtaenes of our products and product candidates. These
applications may not mature to registration and baghallenged by third parties. We are pursuiademark
protection in a number of different countries ardtime world. There can be no assurances that eegisor
unregistered trademarks or trade names of our coynpal not infringe on third parties rights or whe acceptable
to regulatory agencies.

Research and Development Activities

Our research and development expenses consistrpyimicosts associated with the development and
manufacturing of our product candidates, compeosatnd other expenses for research and develogreestnnel,
supplies and materials, costs for consultants aladed contract research, facility costs, amoitmaand
depreciation. We charge all research and developexgrenses to operations as they are incurred. Degrast two
years, our research and development activities pémearily focused on the development of our prefaiy produc
candidates. Our industry is subject to rapid tetdgioal advancements, developing industry standandisnew
product introductions and enhancements. As a resaultsuccess depends, in large part, on ouryhilitlevelop an
commercialize products.

Our research and development expenditures in f&@8, 2007 and 2006 totaled approximately $44I1Ramj
$20.6 million and $9.2 million, respectively. Resgraand development expenditures in fiscal 2008&vpeimarily
related to continued development of our variougppetary product candidates and the manufactunmy a
production of our rHUPH20 enzyme. Research andldprent expenditures in fiscal 2007 were primariiated tc
the manufacturing and production of our rHuPH20yemz, and the development of Enhanze Technology, our
HYLENEX product and our Chemophase product candidResearch and development expenditures in 296
were primarily related to the development of ounttilase and HYLENEX products and our Chemophaseugtod
candidate. We anticipate that we will incur sigrafit research and development expenses in the fut@onnectio
with the development of product candidates.

Manufacturing

We have existing supply agreements with contractufecturing organizations Avid Bioservices, Ing. Avid,
and Cook Pharmica LLC, or Cook, to produce bullorebinant human hyaluronidase for clinical trialslan
commercial use. These manufacturers will produeeatitive pharmaceutical ingredient used in our petsiand
product candidates under commercial good manufagtpractices for both clinical and commercial scal
production and will provide support for the chemjismanufacturing and controls sections for FDAulatpry
filings. These manufacturers, Cook in particulayén limited experience manufacturing our activerptaceutical
ingredient batches, and we rely on their abilitpticcessfully manufacture these batches accordipgptuct
specifications. In addition, as a result of ourtcactual obligations to Roche, we will be requitedignificantly
scale up our active pharmaceutical ingredient pcdn at Cook during the next few years. We doawtently
have a significant inventory of the active pharmaioal ingredient used in our products and prodacididates, so
the ability of these manufacturers to maintaintb&tus as FDA-approved manufacturing facilitied t
successfully scale up our active pharmaceuticakutignt production is essential to our corporatgtatyy.

Sales and Marketing

HYLENEX

Baxter is responsible for the development and ei@tof the HYLENEX sales and marketing strateggxtr
has indicated that it intends to build a strongichl foundation with post-marketing trials ancettucate the market
on the concept of difficult venous access. Postkatarg clinical trials are ongoing to explore tregntial of
HYLENEX in a variety of medical settings, since tied or no data with HYLENEX exist in conditionsrfo
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which Baxter will market the product. Examplestué trials include the completed INFUSE-PediatribyRiation
study, completed INFUSE-LR study and completed IISEtMorphine study. In addition, Baxter is currently
enrolling patients in a second INFUSE-Pediatric yiehtion Study, which is designed to determineréig/dration
success rate (efficacy) and safety in childrenécavith HYLENEX-augmented subcutaneous fluid infusion. Ba
currently has a team of medical science liaisongadkas nurse educators that are engaging in éidagarior to
commercial launch in the pediatric hydration maffelowing publication of related clinical data. Vé&pect the
launch of HYLENEX by Baxter in the fourth quartdran09.

Cumulase

Our sales and marketing strategy in the IVF mackesists of a multi-channel approach that targatiepts,
clinicians and suppliers. We have an existing naeitssive distribution agreement with a distribuediVF reagents
and media that sells directly to IVF clinics in bdhe United States and European markets. Durifg,2fales of
Cumulase in the European Union and the United Staiege approximately $325,000 and $93,000, respgti

Competition
HYLENEX

Other manufacturers have FDefpproved products for use as spreading agentsiding ISTA Pharmaceutica
Inc., with an ovine (ram) hyaluronidase, Vitr&egAmphastar Pharmaceuticals, Inc., with a bovinalimpnidase,
Amphadasé™ , and Primapharm, Inc. also with a bovine hyalwiase, Hydas® . In addition, some commercial
pharmacies compound hyaluronidase preparationiggtitutions and physicians even though compounded
preparations are not FDA-approved products. Somgoanding pharmacies do not test every batch afywmiofor
drug concentration, sterility and lack of pyrogemsaddition, HYLENEX is priced at a significantgmium
compared to the animal-derived hyaluronidases otlyrén the marketplace. This price premium maynstoarket
adoption of HYLENEX and make market penetratiofficlift.

Cumulase

A key clinical selling point for Cumulase is thaimay eliminate the risk of animal pathogen trarssioin and
toxicity inherent in slaughterhouse preparatioriee Tompeting enzymes are of animal origin, creadimg
opportunity for a recombinant human enzyme alté&vraaCumulase is priced at a premium comparedeatiimal-
derived products sold by these leading IVF supgliathich may make market penetration difficult.

Government Regulations

The FDA and comparable regulatory agencies in §orebuntries regulate extensively the manufactocesale
of the pharmaceutical products that we have deeelap currently are developing. The FDA has esthbti
guidelines and safety standards that are appli¢atitee laboratory and preclinical evaluation atiical
investigation of therapeutic products and stringegtlations that govern the manufacture and daleese product
The process of obtaining regulatory approval faew therapeutic product usually requires a sigaift@mount of
time and substantial resources. The steps typioadjyired before a product can be produced andetedior
human use include:

< Animal pharmacology studies to obtain preliminariormation on the safety and efficacy of a dr
« Laboratory and preclinical evaluatiin vitro andin vivoincluding extensive toxicology studie

The results of these laboratory and preclinicalistsimay be submitted to the FDA as part of anstigational
new drug, or IND, application. The sponsor of aDI&pplication may commence human testing of thepeamd
30 days after submission of the IND, unless ndatif@the contrary by the FDA.
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The clinical testing program for a new drug typigahvolves three phases:

« Phase | investigations are generally conducteaaithy subjects. In certain instances, subjects avit
life-threatening disease, such as cancer, maycpzate in Phase | studies that determine the maximu
tolerated dose and initial safety of the prod

» Phase Il studies are conducted in limited numbgssilbjects with the disease or condition to beté@and
are aimed at determining the most effective doskesahedule of administration, evaluating both gedetd
whether the product demonstrates therapeutic eftawss against the disease;

« Phase lll studies involve large, well-controllegestigations in diseased subjects and are aimestiging
the safety and effectiveness of the di

Data from all clinical studies, as well as all ledtory and preclinical studies and evidence of pobdjuality,
typically are submitted to the FDA in a new druglagation, or NDA. Although the FDA requirements for clinici
trials are well established and we believe thahesxe planned and conducted our clinical trialscicoadance with
the FDA's applicable regulations and guidelinessthrequirements, including requirements relatrgsting the
safety of drug candidates, may be subject to chasgeresult of recent announcements regardintygaigblems
with approved drugs. Additionally, we could be rizggqd to conduct additional trials beyond what we panned
due to the FDA's safety and/or efficacy concerndwe to differing interpretations of the meaningaf clinical
data. (See Part | — Item 1A, “Risk Factors.”)

The FDA'’s Center for Drug Evaluation and ReseaotlCDER, must approve an NDA for a drug beforealym
be marketed in the United States. If we begin toketaour proposed products for commercial sald@d.S., any
manufacturing operations that may be establishe@d outside the United States will also be sukiecigorous
regulation, including compliance with current Gdddnufacturing Practices, or cGMP. We also may lixgest to
regulation under the Occupational Safety and He¥dththe Environmental Protection Act, the ToxigbStance
Control Act, the Export Control Act and other pretsend future laws of general application. In aiddit the
handling, care and use of laboratory animals dbgstito the Guidelines for the Humane Use and ©fre
Laboratory Animals published by the National Inggits of Health.

Regulatory obligations continue post-approval, exetlide the reporting of adverse events when a grug
utilized in the broader patient population. Promotand marketing of drugs is also strictly regudateith penalties
imposed for violations of FDA regulations, the LanhAct (trademark statute) and other federal aaid $aws,
including the federal anti-kickback statute.

We currently intend to continue to seek, directiytwmough our partners, approval to market our potsiand
product candidates in foreign countries, which rhaye regulatory processes that differ materiatiyrfthose of the
FDA. We anticipate that we will rely upon pharmatieal or biotechnology companies to license ouppsed
products or independent consultants to seek aplsravanarket our proposed products in foreign coest We
cannot assure you that approvals to market anyiopmposed products can be obtained in any couApgroval tc
market a product in any one foreign country doagsecessarily indicate that approval can be obthinether
countries.

Product Liability Insurance

We currently maintain product liability insurance our products and clinical trials that providesaemage in th
amount of $5,000,000 per incident and $5,000,0GBéraggregate.

Executive Officers of the Registrant

Information concerning our executive officers, imtihg their names, ages and certain biographicatrimation
can be found in Part lll-Item 10. “Directors, Exéea Officers and Corporate Governance.” This infation is
incorporated by reference into Part | of this répor
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Employees

As of February 28, 2009, we had 129 full-time emgpkes, including 91 engaged in research and clinical
development activities. Included in our total headt are 43 employees who hold Ph.D. or M.D. degyréée
currently anticipate hiring approximately 10 addfithl employees by the end of 2009. None of our eygas are
unionized and we believe our relationship with employees is good.

Iltem 1A. Risk Factors

Risks Related To Our Business

We have generated only minimal revenue from prodsates to date; we have a history of net losses and
negative cash flow, and we may never achieve orntan profitability.

We have generated only minimal revenue from prodatgs, licensing fees and milestone paymentsteoatal
may never generate significant revenues from futuoeluct sales, licensing fees and milestone pasnéwnen if
we do achieve significant revenues from productsdicensing fees and/or milestone payments, yweatio incur
significant operating losses over the next few geéfe have never been profitable, and we may risseme
profitable. Through December 31, 2008, we haverigcliaggregate net losses of approximately $118l&m

If any party to a key collaboration agreement, ining us, fails to perform material obligations urd such
agreement, or if a key collaboration agreementeésrminated for any reason, our business would sigegtly
suffer.

We have entered into key collaboration agreemeamgmuwhich we may receive significant future paytaen
the form of maintenance fees, milestone paymerdsayalties. In the event that a party fails tofpen under a ke’
collaboration agreement, or if a key collaboratigmeement is terminated, the reduction in antieghatvenues
could delay or suspend our product developmentities for some of our product candidates as welar
commercialization efforts for some or all of oupng@ucts. In addition, the termination of a key codleation
agreement by one of our partners could materiailyaict our ability to enter into additional collaBtion agreemen
with new partners on favorable terms, if at allcértain circumstances, the termination of a kdlaboration
agreement would require us to revise our corpatatgegy going forward and reevaluate the appbioatand value
of our technology.

If our contract manufacturers are unable to manufaare significant amounts of the active pharmacetdic
ingredient used in our products and product candida, our product development and commercialization
efforts could be delayed or stopped and our collediive partnerships could be damaged.

We have existing supply agreements with contractufecturing organizations Avid and Cook to prodbogk
recombinant human hyaluronidase for clinical trealsl commercial use. These manufacturers will predhe
active pharmaceutical ingredient used in our prtaland product candidates under cGMP for bothadirand
commercial scale production and will provide supfor the chemistry, manufacturing and controlgises for
FDA regulatory filings. These manufacturers hawgtikd experience manufacturing our active pharmiicau
ingredient batches, and we rely on their abilitpticcessfully manufacture these batches accordipgptuct
specifications. In addition, as a result of ourtcactual obligations to Roche, we will be requitedignificantly
scale up our active pharmaceutical ingredient pcidn at Cook during the next few years. We doawtently
have a significant inventory of the active pharmaical ingredient used in our products and prodacididates, so
these manufacturers do not maintain their statées-approved manufacturing facilities, are unable
successfully scale up our active pharmaceuticakutignt production, or are unable to manufactueesittive
pharmaceutical ingredient used in our productspmnduct candidates according to product specificatifor any
other reason, the commercialization of our prodaots the development of our product candidateshgildlelayed
and our business will be adversely affected. Weshwot yet established, and may not be able to lesiatavorable
arrangements with additional manufacturers foretiegredients or products should the existing sepflecome
unavailable or in the event that our existing cacitmanufacturers are unable to adequately pertioem
responsibilities. Any delays or interruptions i tupply of materials by Avid and/or Cook could smthe delay of
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clinical trials and could delay or prevent the coenamalization of product candidates that may reeeegulatory
approval. Such delays would likely damage our iatehip with our partners under our key collabanati
agreements. Lastly, such delays or interruptiongldvbave a material adverse effect on our busiardginancial
condition.

If we are unable to sufficiently develop our salesarketing and distribution capabilities or entento
successful agreements with third parties to perfotihese functions, we will not be able to fully coreraialize
our products.

We may not be successful in marketing and promatimgexisting product candidates or any other pctsiwe
develop or acquire in the future. We are curreintlihe process of developing our sales, marketirtydistribution
capabilities. However, our current capabilitieshase areas are very limited. In order to commkzeiany product
successfully, we must internally develop substastifes, marketing and distribution capabilitiegstablish
collaborations or other arrangements with thirdiparto perform these services. We do not havensite
experience in these areas, and we may not be@abkdblish adequate in-house sales, marketingliatribution
capabilities or engage and effectively manageiogiahips with third parties to perform any or dlsach services.
To the extent that we enter into co-promotion dieoticensing arrangements, our product revenuebkaty to be
lower than if we directly marketed and sold ourdurats, and any revenues we receive will depend tipoefforts
of third parties, whose efforts may not meet oypestations or be successful.

We depend upon the efforts of third parties, sucBaxter for HYLENEX, to promote and sell our cuntre
products, but there can be no assurance thatfibrtsedf these third parties will meet our expectas or result in
any significant product sales. While these thirdipa are largely responsible for the speed andesob sales and
marketing efforts, they may not dedicate the resesinecessary to maximize product opportunitiesoamability tc
cause these third parties to increase the speescapeé of their efforts may be limited. In additisales and
marketing efforts could be negatively impacted ey delay or failure to obtain additional supporiiiaical trial
data for our products. In some cases, third patiners are responsible for conducting these adhditiclinical trials
and our ability to increase the efforts and resesiallocated to these trials may be limited.

For example, the resources dedicated by Baxtédretsdles and marketing of HYLENEX have not met our
expectations to date and we believe that Baxtessurce allocation has resulted in disappointihessar
HYLENEX. There can be no assurances, despite reptaisons made to us by Baxter, that the resowvdebe
increased to a level we believe to be appropriate.

If we have problems with third parties that prepaffdl, finish and package our products and product
candidates for distribution, our product commercizhtion and development efforts for these produatsl
product candidates could be delayed or stopped.

We rely on third parties to prepare, fill, finishdapackage our products and product candidatestpribeir
distribution. If we are unable to locate third pestto perform these functions on terms that aoce@mically
acceptable to us, the progress of clinical trialsld be delayed or even suspended and the comnieatian of
approved product candidates could be delayed oepted. For example, we previously entered intagneement
with another third party to prepare, fill, finishdpackage Cumulase, but that third party did negtnthe
manufacturing, technical and cost targets that weggnally established and, as a result, we teataid our
agreement with that third party. We currently a8lia subsidiary of Baxter to prepare, fill, fineshd package
HYLENEX under a development and supply agreemeatd has only limited experience manufacturing
HYLENEX batches, and we rely on its ability to sessfully manufacture HYLENEX batches accordingrimdpict
specifications. Any delays or interruptions in Besd ability to manufacture HYLENEX batches in amtsu
necessary to meet product demand could have aialatdverse impact on our business and financiadlition.

12
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If our proprietary and partnered product candidate® not receive and maintain regulatory approvatkey will
not be commercialized, and this failure would suéstially impair our ability to generate revenues.

Approval from the FDA is necessary to manufactur@ market pharmaceutical products in the UnitedeSta
Most other countries in which we may do businesglsmilar requirements. To date, two of our pradiandidates
have received regulatory approval from the FDA.

The process for obtaining FDA approval is extensivee-consuming and costly, and there is no guaeathat
the FDA will approve any NDAs that may be filed lviespect to any of our proprietary or partnerestipct
candidates, or that the timing of any such appreithbe appropriate for our desired product lauschedule and
other business priorities, which are subject tanglea There are no proprietary or partnered proclctliidates
currently in the NDA approval process, and we amdpartners may not be successful in obtaining sipgitovals
for any potential products.

Our proprietary and partnered product candidates ynaot receive regulatory approvals for a varietyreasons
including unsuccessful clinical trials.

Clinical testing of pharmaceutical products is rdpexpensive and uncertain process and the fafuae
clinical trial can occur at any stage. Even ifialitesults of preclinical studies or clinical triasults are promising,
we or our partners may obtain different results$ takto show the desired levels of safety andceffy, or we may
not, or our partners may not, obtain FDA approwald variety of other reasons. Clinical trials &oy of our
proprietary or partnered product candidates coaldrisuccessful, which would delay or prohibit regedy approva
and commercialization of the product candidatesABPproval can be delayed, limited or not grantadhfiany
reasons, including, among others:

» FDA review may not find a product candidate safeftective enough to merit either continued testing
final approval,

« FDA review may not find that the data from predailitesting and clinical trials justifies approvad,they
may require additional studies that would makermmercially unattractive to continue pursuit of epyal;

« the FDA may reject our trial data or disagree witin interpretations of either clinical trial dataapplicable
regulations

* the cost of a clinical trial may be greater tharatule originally anticipate, and we may decidedbpursue
FDA approval for such a tria

» the FDA may not approve our manufacturing processéacilities, or the processes or facilities af 0
contract manufacturers or raw material suppli

« the FDA may change its formal or informal approreajuirements and policies, act contrary to previous
guidance, or adopt new regulations

« the FDA may approve a product candidate for inébcetthat are narrow or under conditions that ptaee
product at a competitive disadvantage, which majt lbur sales and marketing activities or otherwise
adversely impact the commercial potential of a poic

If the FDA does not approve a proprietary or pagdeproduct candidate in timely fashion on comnaghgi
viable terms, or if development of any product ¢date is terminated due to difficulties or delays@untered in the
regulatory approval process, it could have a matadverse impact on our business and we will becorore
dependent on the development of other proprietapadnered product candidates and/or our abilityuccessfully
acquire other products and technologies. Therédearo assurances that any proprietary or partn@etlict
candidate will receive regulatory approval in agiynmanner, or at all.

We anticipate that certain proprietary and partg@r@ducts will be marketed, and perhaps manufadtun
foreign countries. The process of obtaining reguiagpprovals in foreign countries is subject ttagend failure
for many of the same reasons set forth above dsawébr reasons that vary from jurisdiction taigdiction. The
approval process varies among countries and jetisds and can involve additional testing. The ti@guired to
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obtain approval may differ from that required tdab FDA approval. Foreign regulatory agencies matyprovide
approvals on a timely basis, if at all. Approvalthg FDA does not ensure approval by regulatoriiaittes in othe
countries or jurisdictions, and approval by onesign regulatory authority does not ensure apprbyakgulatory
authorities in other foreign countries or juriséhiots or by the FDA.

If we or our partners fail to comply with regulatgrrequirements, regulatory agencies may take actagainst
us or them, which could significantly harm our buséss.

Any approved products, along with the manufactupracesses, post-approval clinical data, labeling,
advertising and promotional activities for thesedurcts, are subject to continual requirements awigw by the
FDA and other regulatory bodies. Regulatory authesrisubject a marketed product, its manufacturdrthe
manufacturing facilities to continual review andipdic inspections. We will be subject to ongoingA-
requirements, including required submissions aftyadnd other post-market information and repoetgistration
requirements, cGMP regulations, requirements regautthe distribution of samples to physicians astbrdkeeping
requirements. The cGMP regulations include requénrasrelating to quality control and quality assee as well
as the corresponding maintenance of records anghuErtation. We rely on the compliance by our cantra
manufacturers with cGMP regulations and other r@guy requirements relating to the manufacturewfproducts.
We and our partners are also subject to statedagegistration requirements covering the distiilouof our
products. Regulatory agencies may change existiggirements or adopt new requirements or polithésor our
partners may be slow to adapt or may not be alkédelapt to these changes or new requirements.

Regulatory requirements applicable to pharmacduytimaucts make the substitution of suppliers and
manufacturers costly and time consuming. We haviateonal manufacturing capabilities and are, axuket to be
in the future, entirely dependent on contract mactufrers and suppliers for the manufacture of codycts and for
their active and other ingredients. The disqualifiin of these manufacturers and suppliers thralgin failure to
comply with regulatory requirements could negatiaipact our business because the delays andioosi¢aining
and qualifying alternate suppliers (if such altéineasuppliers are available, which we cannot asscould delay
clinical trials or otherwise inhibit our ability toring approved products to market, which wouldehamaterial
adverse effect on our business and financial cmmdit

Later discovery of previously unknown problems witlr proprietary or partnered products, manufaaturi
processes or failure to comply with regulatory iegments, may result in any of the following:

* restrictions on our products or manufacturing psses

e warning letters

 withdrawal of the products from the mark

« voluntary or mandatory reca

* fines;

» suspension or withdrawal of regulatory approv

* suspension or termination of any of our ongoingicél trials;

« refusal to permit the import or export of our proti

« refusal to approve pending applications or supptem approved applications that we subi
 product seizure; ¢

« injunctions or the imposition of civil or crimingkenalties

Future acquisitions could disrupt our business amérm our financial condition.

In order to augment our product pipeline or otheenstrengthen our business, we may decide to &quir
additional businesses, products and technologiesvéhave limited experience in evaluating and detimy
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acquisitions, our ability as an organization to makich acquisitions is unproven. Acquisitions caelglire
significant capital infusions and could involve mpaisks, including, but not limited to, the follomg:

* we may have to issue convertible debt or equityistes to complete an acquisition, which wouldutg our
stockholders and could adversely affect the mapkiee of our common stoc

* an acquisition may negatively impact our resultsérations because it may require us to amortizerite
down amounts related to goodwill and other intalegéssets, or incur or assume substantial deldtilities,
or it may cause adverse tax consequences, subs@epreciation or deferred compensation chai

« we may encounter difficulties in assimilating antegrating the business, products, technologiegsppeel
or operations of companies that we acqt

« certain acquisitions may impact our relationshithveixisting or potential partners who are compaitivith
the acquired business, products or technolo

 acquisitions may require significant capital infuss and the acquired businesses, products or tedies
may not generate sufficient value to justify acdigia costs;

e an acquisition may disrupt our ongoing businesgriiresources, increase our expenses and distract
managemen

 acquisitions may involve the entry into a geograpitibusiness market in which we have little opnior
experience; an

 key personnel of an acquired company may decidéonobrk for us.

If any of these risks occurred, it could adversdfect our business, financial condition and opecatesults.
We cannot assure you that we will be able to idigeti consummate any future acquisitions on acd#ptEerms, or
at all. If we do pursue any acquisitions, it is ibke that we may not realize the anticipated hen&bm such
acquisitions or that the market will not view swdquisitions positively.

We may wish to raise funds in the next twelve masitnd there can be no assurance that such fund oé
available.

During the next twelve months, we may wish to raidditional capital to continue the developmenbwf
product candidates or for other corporate purpddas.current cash position and expected revenuesgithe next
few years will not constitute the amount of capitatessary for us to continue the development opmprietary
product candidates and to fund general operatlareddition, if we engage in acquisitions of comipanproducts ¢
technology in order to execute our business styateg may need to raise additional capital. We ekperaise
additional capital in the future through one or enfinancing vehicles that may be available to UmesE financing
vehicles currently include: (i) the public offerind securities; (ii) new collaborative agreemefjig; expansions or
revisions to existing collaborative relationshifig) private financings and/or (v) other equitydebt financings.

Currently, warrants to purchase approximately lilflan shares of our common stock are outstandimdy this
amount of outstanding warrants may make us a kesisalble candidate for investment for some poteimigstors.
Considering our stage of development, the natumiptapital structure and general market conditidfrwe are
required to raise additional capital in the futuhe additional financing may not be available awofrable terms, or
at all. If we are successful in raising additiooapital, a substantial number of additional shareg be issued and
these shares will dilute the ownership interesiwfcurrent investors.

If proprietary or partnered product candidates aapproved by the FDA but do not gain market acceptanour
business may suffer and we may not be able to ffutdre operations.

Assuming that our proprietary or partnered proaacididates obtain the necessary regulatory approaal
number of factors may affect the market acceptantieese existing product candidates or any othadycts which
are developed or acquired in the future, includargpng others:

« the price of products relative to other therap@sltie same or similar treatmer
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« the perception by patients, physicians and othenloees of the health care community of the effectbss
and safety of these products for their prescribeatinents

« our ability to fund our sales and marketing eff@tsl the ability and willingness of our partner$uind sales
and marketing efforts

« the degree to which the use of these productsideted by the product label approved by the F

* the effectiveness of our sales and marketing efimnd the effectiveness of the sales and markeffogs of
our partners; an

« the introduction of generic competito

If these products do not gain market acceptancenasenot be able to fund future operations, ingigdhe
development or acquisition of new product candislated/or our sales and marketing efforts for oyrayed
products, which would cause our business to suffer.

In addition, our proprietary and partnered prodiztdidates will be restricted to the labels appddwethe
FDA and these restrictions may limit the marketimgl promotion of the ultimate products. If the awed labels
are restrictive, the sales and marketing effontafese products may be negatively affected.

Developing and marketing pharmaceutical products fluman use involves product liability risks, forhich we
currently have limited insurance coverage.

The testing, marketing and sale of pharmaceuticadycts involves the risk of product liability alas by
consumers and other third parties. Although we taairproduct liability insurance coverage, prodiadbility
claims can be high in the pharmaceutical industiy @ur insurance may not sufficiently cover ounattiabilities.
If product liability claims were to be made agaiust it is possible that our insurance carriers deyy, or attempt
to deny, coverage in certain instances. If a latnagainst us is successful, then the lack or insaffcy of insurance
coverage could materially and adversely affecttuginess and financial condition. Furthermore,otesi
distributors of pharmaceutical products requireimirm product liability insurance coverage beforechase or
acceptance of products for distribution. Failureatisfy these insurance requirements could impedeability to
achieve broad distribution of our proposed prodaats the imposition of higher insurance requiremeould
impose additional costs on us. In addition, sinemynof our partnered product candidates include the
pharmaceutical products of a third party, we ruaribk that problems with the third party pharmaioal product
will give rise to liability claims against us.

Our inability to attract, hire and retain key managnent and scientific personnel could negativelyesdt our
business.

Our success depends on the performance of key raareay and scientific employees with biotechnology
experience. Given our relatively small staff sigkative to the number of programs currently undaratbpment, we
depend substantially on our ability to hire, tragtain and motivate high quality personnel, esgdcour scientists
and management team. If we are unable to retastiegipersonnel or identify or hire additional pmsel, we may
not be able to research, develop, commercializearket our product candidates as expected or onedytbasis
and we may not be able to adequately support duarehfuture alliances with strategic partners.

Furthermore, if we were to lose key managementopeel, particularly Jonathan Lim, M.D., our Presidend
Chief Executive Officer, or Gregory Frost, Ph.Dur €hief Scientific Officer, then we would likelpde some
portion of our institutional knowledge and techhikaow-how, potentially causing a substantial detagne or
more of our development programs until adequatiacement personnel could be hired and trainedekample,
Dr. Frost has been with us from soon after ourptioa, and he possesses a substantial amount vfiédge about
our development efforts. If we were to lose hivgers, we would experience delays in meeting oadpct
development schedules. In 2008, we adopted a seeplicy applicable to all employees and a chamgentrol
policy applicable to senior executives. We haveattutpted any other policies or entered into angrodigreements
specifically designed to motivate officers or otkerployees to remain with us.

We do not have key man life insurance policieshanlives of any of our employees, including Dr. Lamd
Dr. Frost.
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If we or our partners do not achieve projected d@mnent goals in the timeframes we publicly annownor
otherwise expect, the commercialization of our pumtls and the development of our product candidatesy be
delayed and, as a result, our stock price may dezli

We publicly articulate the estimated timing for #iecomplishment of certain scientific, clinicalguéatory and
other product development goals. The accomplishmieathy goal is typically based on numerous assiomptand
the achievement of a particular goal may be deldyedny number of reasons both within and outsideur
control. If scientific, regulatory, strategic ohet factors cause us to not meet a goal, regarafeshether that goal
has been publicly articulated or not, the commédrezition of our products and the development of gnaprietary
and partnered product candidates may be delayedidition, the consistent failure to meet publizhnounced
milestones may erode the credibility of our managignteam with respect to future milestone estimates

Risks Related To Ownership of Our Common Stock

Future sales of shares of our common stock upon theercise of currently outstanding securities ornguant to
our universal shelf registration statement may neyaly affect our stock price.

As a result of our October 2004 financing trangaxtive issued warrants for the purchase of appratein
2.7 million shares of common stock at a purchasemf $2.25 per share. Currently, approximate®rillion
shares of common stock remain issuable upon theisgeof these warrants. The exercise of theseantsicould
result in dilution to stockholders at the time g€ecise which could negatively affect our stoclkceri

We currently have the ability to offer and sellto$50.0 million of additional equity or debt seitiess under a
currently effective universal shelf registratioatsment. Sales of substantial amounts of sharesrafommon stock
or other securities under our universal shelf tegfion statement could lower the market pricewf@mmon stock
and impair our ability to raise capital through Hade of equity securities. In the future, we nssue additional
options, warrants or other derivative securitiesvestible into our common stock.

Our stock price is subject to significant volatiit

We participate in a highly dynamic industry whidten results in significant volatility in the marigrice of
common stock irrespective of company performanceaAesult, our high and low sales prices of ounrmon stock
during the twelve months ended December 31, 2008 $@.26 and $2.60, respectively. We expect ouwkgpoice
to continue to be subject to significant volatilégd, in addition to the other risks and uncerimsndescribed
elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K anatier risks and uncertainties that are eitherknotvn to us at
this time or which we deem to be immaterial, anyhef following factors may lead to a significanbgtin our stock
price:

« our failure, or the failure of one of our third papartners, to comply with the terms of our cotiedtion
agreements

« the termination, for any reason, of any of ouraiodiration agreement

* the sale of common stock by any significant stoddéig including, but not limited to, direct or imdct sales
by members of management or our Board of Direc

« general negative conditions in the healthcare itrgu

« general negative conditions in the financial mask

« the failure, for any reason, to obtain FDA apprdealany of our proprietary or partnered producididates
« the failure, for any reason, to secure or defendrdellectual property positior

« for those products that are approved by the FDAfdlilure of the FDA to approve such products tireely
manner consistent with the FI's historical approval proces

« the suspension of any clinical trial due to safatpatient tolerability issue

« the suspension of any clinical trial due to maand/orcompetitive conditions
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« our failure, or the failure of our third party paets, to successfully commercialize products apgutdoy the
FDA;

« our failure, or the failure of our third party paets, to generate product revenues anticipatedusstors

« problems with an API contract manufacturer or laafild finish manufacturer for any product or praduc
candidate

« the sale of additional deand/orequity securities by us; at

« the departure of key personn

Trading in our stock has historically been limitedp investors may not be able to sell as much staxkhey
want to at prevailing market prices.

Our stock has historically traded at a low daibding volume. If low trading volume continues, iayrbe
difficult for stockholders to sell their sharestive public market at any given time at prevailimizgs.

The exercise of outstanding warrants may drive dotkie market price of our stock.

Outstanding warrants that may be exercised forequmately 1.9 million shares of common stock witpée
per their terms in October 2009. Some warrant hisldey choose to sell outstanding shares of constomk in
order to finance the exercise of their warrants thiglpattern of selling may result in a reductafrour common
stock’s market price.

Risks Related To Our Industry

Compliance with the extensive government regulasdie which we are subject is expensive and time
consuming and may result in the delay or canceltatiof product sales, introductions or modifications

Extensive industry regulation has had, and willtoare to have, a significant impact on our businédis
pharmaceutical companies, including ours, are stibjeextensive, complex, costly and evolving ragioh by the
federal government, principally the FDA and, t@sser extent, the U.S. Drug Enforcement Administnabr DEA,
and foreign and state government agencies. Theréddg@od, Drug and Cosmetic Act, the Controlled Sabces
Act and other domestic and foreign statutes andlatigns govern or influence the testing, manufasty
packaging, labeling, storing, recordkeeping, saf@pproval, advertising, promotion, sale and distion of our
products. Under certain of these regulations, wkaur contract suppliers and manufacturers areestity) periodic
inspection of our or their respective facilitiesppedures and operations and/or the testing ofystsdy the FDA,
the DEA and other authorities, which conduct peédaaspections to confirm that we and our contggipliers and
manufacturers are in compliance with all applicaklgulations. The FDA also conducts pre- appromdl @ost-
approval reviews and plant inspections to determinether our systems, or our contract supplierd’ an
manufacturers’ processes, are in compliance witkle@nd other FDA regulations. If we, or our contrsupplier,
fail these inspections, we may not be able to coroialéize our product in a timely manner withoutuniéng
significant additional costs, or at all.

In addition, the FDA imposes a number of complautatory requirements on entities that advertigk an
promote pharmaceuticals including, but not limitedstandards and regulations for direct-to-consuadgertising,
off-label promotion, industry-sponsored scientditd educational activities, and promotional adg#sgiinvolving the
internet.

We are dependent on receiving FDA and other goventah approvals prior to manufacturing, marketind a
shipping our products. Consequently, there is adnayisk that the FDA or other applicable governtaeauthoritie:
will not approve our products, or will take postapval action limiting or revoking our ability tel our products,
or that the rate, timing and cost of such approwdllsadversely affect our product introduction psaor results of
operations.
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We may be required to initiate or defend againgjdé proceedings related to intellectual propertghis, which
may result in substantial expense, delay and/orga®n of the development and commercializationooir
products.

We rely on patents to protect our intellectual mrtyp rights. The strength of this protection, hoevs
uncertain. For example, it is not certain that:

« our patents and pending patent applications congglygtsand/ortechnology that we invented fire

« we were the first to file patent applications foese inventions

« others will not independently develop similar adeatative technologies or duplicate our technolsy
 any of our pending patent applications will resnlissued patents; ar

 any of our issued patents, or patent pending agpics that result in issued patents, will be hellid and
infringed in the event the patents are assertehstgathers

We currently own or license several U.S. patentsaso have pending patent applications. Therebeamo
assurance that our existing patents, or any paignisd to us as a result of our pending patedicapipns, will
provide a basis for commercially viable productsl| provide us with any competitive advantageswit not face
third party challenges or be the subject of furfirerceedings limiting their scope or enforceabil®ych limitations
in our patent portfolio could have a material adeegffect on our business and financial conditioraddition, if any
of our pending patent applications do not resuiséued patents, this could have a material adwdfset on our
business and financial condition.

We may become involved in interference proceedingse U.S. Patent and Trademark Office to deteentiire
priority of our inventions. In addition, costlyitjation could be necessary to protect our patesitipa. We also rely
on trademarks to protect the names of our prodiittsse trademarks may not be acceptable to regulag@ncies.
In addition, these trademarks may be challengeaklgrs. If we enforce our trademarks against thadies, such
enforcement proceedings may be expensive. We algon trade secrets, unpatented proprietary know-dnd
continuing technological innovation that we seeprotect with confidentiality agreements with enygdes,
consultants and others with whom we discuss ounbss. Disputes may arise concerning the ownership
intellectual property or the applicability or endeability of these agreements, and we might neatlide to resolve
these disputes in our favor.

In addition to protecting our own intellectual pesty rights, third parties may assert patent, tnzaké or
copyright infringement or other intellectual progyetlaims against us based on what they believéhaie own
intellectual property rights. If we become involviadany intellectual property litigation, we may tegjuired to pay
substantial damages, including but not limitedéble damages, for past infringement if it is ulitely determined
that our products infringe a third party’s intetieal property rights. Even if infringement claingainst us are
without merit, defending a lawsuit takes signifitime, may be expensive and may divert managematiention
from other business concerns. Further, we maydppst from developing, manufacturing or selling products
until we obtain a license from the owner of theveint technology or other intellectual propertyhtsg If such a
license is available at all, it may require us &y pubstantial royalties or other fees.

Patent protection for proteirbased therapeutic products and other biotechnolagyentions is subject to a gre:
deal of uncertainty, and if patent laws or the imetation of patent laws change, our competitoraynbe able
to develop and commercialize products based ondiscoveries.

Patent protection for protein-based therapeutidyets is highly uncertain and involves complex legad
factual questions. In recent years, there have biggificant changes in patent law, including tbgdl standards that
govern the scope of protein and biotechnology pat&tandards for patentability of full-length grattial genes,
and their corresponding proteins, are changingeRemurt decisions have made it more difficulblbdain patents,
by making it more difficult to satisfy the requirent of non-obviousness, have decreased the avaylaifi
injunctions against infringers, and have increabkedikelihood of challenging the validity of a pat through a
declaratory judgment action. Taken together, tliesgsions could make it more difficult and costly éis to obtain,
license and enforce our patents. In addition, @eméyears, several members of the United Statagr€ss have

19




Table of Contents

made numerous proposals to change the patentestaihése proposals include measures that, amosngtbihgs,
would expand the ability of third parties to oppasgted States patents, introduce the “first te’fdtandard to the
United States patent system, and limit damagesfangder is required to pay. If the patent staistehanged, the
scope, validity and enforceability of our patentynbe significantly decreased.

There also have been, and continue to be, polsgudsions concerning the scope of patent proteati@mded
to biotechnology inventions. Social and politicpposition to biotechnology patents may lead tooaer patent
protection within the biotechnology industry. Séeiad political opposition to patents on genes jaideins may
lead to narrower patent protection, or narroweintiaterpretation, for genes, their correspondingtgins and
inventions related to their use, formulation anchafacture. Patent protection relating to biotechgglproducts is
also subject to a great deal of uncertainty outdiddJnited States, and patent laws are evolviusdergoing
revision in many countries. Changes in, or difféiaterpretations of, patent laws worldwide mayutes our
inability to obtain or enforce patents, and magpwlbthers to use our discoveries to develop andwerialize
competitive products, which would impair our busise

If third party reimbursement and customer contracise not available, our products may not be accepie the
market.

Our ability to earn sufficient returns on our protiuwill depend in part on the extent to which reimsement
for our products and related treatments will belakée from government health administration auities, private
health insurers, managed care organizations arm b#althcare providers.

Third-party payors are increasingly attemptinginatl both the coverage and the level of reimbursanoé new
drug products to contain costs. Consequently, figmt uncertainty exists as to the reimbursemtaitis of newly
approved healthcare products. Third party payong moa establish adequate levels of reimbursemerthé
products that we commercialize, which could lirhigit market acceptance and result in a materiad@dveffect on
our financial condition.

Customer contracts, such as with group purchagsiggnizations and hospital formularies, will oftest nffer
contract or formulary status without either the éstvprice or substantial proven clinical differatitn. If our
products are compared to animal-derived hyalur@@ddy these entities, it is possible that neifi¢hese
conditions will be met, which could limit marketaaptance and result in a material adverse effecuoiiinancial
condition.

The rising cost of healthcare and related pharmadieal product pricing has led to cost containmentggsures
that could cause us to sell our products at loweicps, resulting in less revenue to us.

Any of the proprietary or partnered products theaténbeen, or in the future are, approved by the Ri2¥ be
purchased or reimbursed by state and federal gmasrhauthorities, private health insurers and otinganizations,
such as health maintenance organizations and mamrage organizations. Such third party payors esiregly
challenge pharmaceutical product pricing. The tremeard managed healthcare in the United Stateggribwth of
such organizations, and various legislative prolsomad enactments to reform healthcare and governimsurance
programs, including the Medicare Prescription Diadernization Act of 2003, could significantly innce the
manner in which pharmaceutical products are presdrand purchased, resulting in lower prices aralfeduction
in demand. Such cost containment measures andhbaadtreforms could adversely affect our abilitgéd our
products. Furthermore, individual states have becmreasingly aggressive in passing legislatiah an
implementing regulations designed to control phaeunéical product pricing, including price or patien
reimbursement constraints, discounts, restrictmmsertain product access, importation from otloemtries and
bulk purchasing. Legally mandated price controlpapment amounts by third party payors or otherioti®ns
could negatively and materially impact our revenaied financial condition. We anticipate that welwilcounter
similar regulatory and legislative issues in mdbkieo countries outside the United States.
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We face intense competition and rapid technologichbnge that could result in the development of guzts by
others that are superior to our proprietary and gaered products under development.

Our proprietary and partnered products have nunsecompetitors in the United States and abroad dirady
among others, major pharmaceutical and speciabim@dchnology firms, universities and other reskanstitutions
that have developed competing products. For exarfgriél YLENEX, such competitors include, but are himited
to, Sigma-Aldrich Corporation, ISTA Pharmaceuticéhe., Amphastar Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and Priraaphinc.
among others. For our Insulin-PH20 product canéidsuich competitors include Biodel Inc. and Mandkin
Corporation. These competitors may develop techyiesoand products that are more effective, safdess costly
than our current or future proprietary and partdgneduct candidates or that could render our telcigies and
product candidates obsolete or noncompetitive. Marihese competitors have substantially more nessuand
product development, manufacturing and marketimedgnce and capabilities than we do. In additivany of our
competitors have significantly greater experietantwe do in undertaking preclinical testing andicél trials of
pharmaceutical product candidates and obtaining BBd\other regulatory approvals of products anchgies for
use in healthcare.

Iltem 1B. Unresolved Staff Commen

None.

Item 2. Properties

Our administrative offices and research facilities currently located in San Diego, California. M&se an
aggregate of approximately 51,500 square feetfafeo&nd research space for a monthly rent expehse
approximately $114,000, net of costs and propertgs associated with the operation and maintenairtoe
subleased facilities. We believe the current spmeglequate for our immediate needs.

Item 3. Legal Proceeding:

From time to time, we may be involved in litigaticelating to claims arising out of operations ia tiormal
course of our business. Any of these claims coulijext us to costly litigation and, while we genlgrbelieve that
we have adequate insurance to cover many difféypas of liabilities, our insurance carriers mapyleoverage or
our policy limits may be inadequate to fully satishy damage awards or settlements. If this wetappen, the
payment of any such awards could have a matenedrad effect on our results of operations and fir@mosition.
Additionally, any such claims, whether or not swstal, could damage our reputation and businesscitently
are not a party to any legal proceedings, the agveutcome of which, in management’s opinion, iatliglly or in
the aggregate, would have a material adverse ajfeour results of operations or financial position

Item 4. Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Hold¢

Not applicable.
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PART Il

Item 5. Market for Registran’'s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters arsslier Purchases of Equity
Securities

Market Information

Since May 10, 2007, our common stock has tradett@mNASDAQ Stock Market under the symbol “HALO.”
During the period from January 1, 2007 to May 920ur common stock traded under the symbol “HF'The
American Stock Exchange (the “AMEX”). The followirtgble sets forth the high and low sales pricesspare of
our common stock during each quarter of the twotmexent fiscal years:

2008 2007
High Low High Low
First Quarte! $7.28  $4.1¢ $9.7C $6.7%
Second Quarte $6.62  $4.7¢  $11.0C $8.0C
Third Quartel $8.2¢ $5.3t $10.5C $7.4¢
Fourth Quarte $7.2¢  $2.6C $ 9.4€ $6.0C

On February 27, 2009, the closing sales price ofommon stock on the NASDAQ Stock Market was $4.43
per share. As of February 27, 2009, we had apprateiy 3,500 stockholders of record. We have nal paiy
dividends on our common stock since our inceptiwh @ not expect to pay dividends on our commocksiio the
foreseeable future.
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Stock Performance Graph and Cumulative Total Return

Notwithstanding any statement to the contrary ig @hour previous or future filings with the SEfet
following information relating to the price perfoance of our common stock shall not be deemed “filed” with
the SEC or to be “soliciting material” under the Geities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, or fuh&nge Act,
and it shall not be deemed to be incorporated ligremce into any of our filings under the Secusitect or the
Exchange Act, except to the extent we specificadtyrporate it by reference into such filir

The graph below compares Halozyme Therapeuticsslogmulative 57-month total shareholder return on
common stock with the cumulative total returnshef NASDAQ Composite index and the NASDAQ Biotecloggyl
index. The graph tracks the performance of a $&08stment in our common stock and in each of tHexas (with
the reinvestment of all dividends) from March 1202 to December 31, 2008. The historical stockepric
performance included in this graph is not necelgsaudicative of future stock price performance.

COMPARISON OF 57 MONTH CUMULATIVE TOTAL RETURN*
Among Halozyme Therapeutics, Inc., The NASDAQ Cosifmlndex
And The NASDAQ Biotechnology Index
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* $100 invested on March 12, 2004 in stock or on &atyr 29, 2004 in index-including reinvestment ofidénds.
Fiscal year ending December .

3/04 12/04 12/05 12/06 12/07 12/08
Halozyme Therapeutics, Inc. $100.0C [$ 53.01 [$ 43.8¢ [$193.9¢ |$171.3¢ |$134.9¢
NASDAQ Composite $100.0C [$107.97 [$110.7. [$124.0¢ |$135.4¢ |$ 78.9<
NASDAQ Biotechnology $100.0C [$103.5¢ [$120.5( |$120.0¢ |$122.0¢ |$112.7-

Recent Sales of Unregistered Securities

During the quarter ended December 31, 2008, holoferarious outstanding warrants exercised thgints to
purchase 391,308 common shares for gross procéagpmximately $429,000. The shares and underlyiagant:
were purchased for investment in a private placeémeampt from the registration requirements of$eeurities Ac
pursuant to Section 4(2) thereof.
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Iltem 6. Selected Financial Dat:

The selected consolidated financial data set foetbw as of December 31, 2008 and 2007, and fofighal
years ended December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006e&wed from our audited consolidated financial extatnts
included elsewhere in this report. This informatitould be read in conjunction with those conseédiddinancial
statements, the notes thereto, and with “ManageémBigcussion and Analysis of Financial Conditiordd&results
of Operations.” The selected consolidated finart#h set forth below as of December 31, 2006, 20052004,
and for the fiscal years ended December 31, 2065326604, are derived from our audited consolidateahtcial
statements that are contained in reports previdiisety with the SEC, not included herein.

Summary Financial Information

Years Ended December 31,

Statement of Operations Data 2008 2007 2006 2005 2004
Total revenue $ 8,764,143 $ 3,799,52 $ 981,74t $ 127,20¢ $ —
Net loss (48,654,19) (23,896,18) (14,751,98) (13,275,37) (9,091,37)
Net loss per share, basic ¢

diluted $ (0.61) $ 032 $ (0.29) $ (0.26) $ (0.2¢)
Shares used in computing net loss

per share, basic and dilut 79,843,70 74,317,93 62,610,26 50,317,02 35,411,12

As of December 31,

Balance Sheet Date 2008 2007 2006 2005 2004
Cash and cash equivalel $63,715,90 $ 97,679,08 $44,189,40 $19,132,19 $16,007,71
Working capital 59,794,37 92,312,93 41,343,01 17,802,80  14,566,20
Total asset 76,562,71 103,460,37  46,091,32 20,510,25 16,403,67
Deferred revenue 49,448,45 39,269,49 19,981,53 254,13t —
Total liabilities 61,182,71 45,692,45  23,010,08 2,303,36! 1,579,41.
Stockholder' equity 15,379,99 57,767,92.  23,081,23 18,206,88 14,824,25

Item 7. Managemen’'s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition drResults of Operatiol

In addition to historical information, the followgndiscussion contains forward-looking statemenas #ne
subject to risks and uncertainties. Actual resoiey differ substantially from those referred todimrdue to a
number of factors, including but not limited tokssdescribed in the Part I, Item 1A “Risks Factoesid elsewhere
in this Annual Report.

Overview

We are a biopharmaceutical company dedicated tdetielopment and commercialization of productseting
the extracellular matrix for the endocrinology, ology, dermatology and drug delivery markets. Ouasteng
products and our products under development ardbas intellectual property covering the familyhafman
enzymes known as hyaluronidases. Hyaluronidasesnasanes (proteins) that break down hyaluronahi/Ayr
which is a naturally occurring space-filling, gidd substance that is a major component of tisgwesighout the
body, such as skin and bone. Our technology ischaseur proprietary recombinant human PH20 enzyme,
rHUPH20, a human synthetic version of hyaluronidase PH20 enzyme is a naturally occurring enzymag t
digests HA to temporarily break down the gel, thgriacilitating the penetration and diffusion ohet drugs and
fluids that are injected under the skin or in thesaoie. Our proprietary technology is applicablentdtiple
therapeutic areas and may be used to both expastthgxnarkets and create new ones. Our technatuay be
utilized for the development of our own proprietarpducts and it may also be applied to existing) an
developmental products of third parties through pastnerships.
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Our operations to date have been limited to orgagiand staffing our operating subsidiary, Halozyine.,
acquiring, developing and securing our technolagy andertaking product development for our exispngducts
and a limited number of product candidates. Oveddlst year, we increased our focus on our pragsigiroduct
pipeline and have expanded investments in our @@y product candidates. We currently have fik@gpams in
various stages of research and development, imgutiree programs in clinical development. We alzee three
partnered programs. Our key partnerships are withdffmann-La Roche, Ltd and Hoffmann-La Roche, loc
Roche, to apply EnhanZe Technology to Roche’s biological therapeutic commsifor up to 13 targets and with
Baxter Healthcare Corporation, or Baxter, to aggifhanze Technology to Baxter’s biological therajmeut
compound, GAMMAGARD LIQUID™ . We have two marketed products: HYLENEX, a regexidrademark of
Baxter International, Inc., a product used as guvaaht to increase the absorption and dispersiasthadr injected
drugs and fluids, and Cumula®e a product used fan vitro fertilization, or IVF. Currently, we have only lited
revenue from the sales of HYLENEX and Cumulas@ddition to revenues from our partnerships withtBaand
Roche.

We have product candidates in the research, prealiand clinical stages, but future revenues fthensales of
these product candidates will depend on our aliitgevelop, manufacture, obtain regulatory appsofa and
successfully commercialize product candidates.ay e years, if ever, before we are able to obtgulatory
approvals for these product candidates. We haugred net operating losses each year since inggptith an
accumulated deficit of approximately $113.6 millias of December 31, 2008.

We currently have an effective universal shelf sagtion statement which allows us to offer andgelto
$50.0 million of equity or debt securities and waynutilize this universal shelf in the future téseacapital to fund
the continued development of our product candidatescommercialization of our products or for etheneral
corporate purposes.

Collaborative Partnerships
Roche Partnership

In December 2006, Halozyme and Roche entered mindanze Technology partnership, or Roche
Partnership. Under the terms of the Roche PartierRioche obtained a worldwide, exclusive licersddvelop an
commercialize product combinations of rHUPH20 apdauthirteen Roche target compounds resulting filoen
collaboration. Under the terms of the Roche Pastripr we were obligated to scale up the produatfoiduPH20
and to identify a second source manufacturer tloaidvhelp meet anticipated production obligatiorisiag from
the partnership. To that end, during 2008, we edtérto a Technology Transfer Agreement and a €irSupply
Agreement with a second rHUPH20 manufacturer. fitaaufacturer has the capacity to produce the diestve
are required to deliver under the terms of the Rd@artnership. The technology transfer was congiet@008 witt
scale-up and clinical supply manufacturing planfoec009.

Roche initially had the exclusive right to applyuPH20 to only three pre-defined Roche biologic égsgvith
the option to exclusively develop and commerciatiiaPH20 with an additional ten targets. Pendirggsthccessful
completion of various clinical, regulatory and saéeents, Roche will be obligated to make milestagments to
us as well as royalty payments on the sales ofymtsdhat result from the partnership. In Decen2$8, we
announced that Roche elected to add a fourth exeltsrget to the three original exclusive targats] we
previously announced the commencement of Phaseidalltrials for products directed at two of thdear
exclusive targets. Roche retains the option tousketly develop and commercialize rHUPH20 with ddional
nine targets through the payment of annual licenamtenance fees.

Baxter Gammagard Partnership

GAMMAGARD LIQUID is a current Baxter product that indicated for the treatment of primary
immunodeficiency disorders associated with defecthe immune system. In September 2007, Halozymde a
Baxter entered into an Enhanze Technology partierehthe Gammagard Partnership. Under the tefritsi®
partnership, Baxter obtained a worldwide, exclusisense to develop and commercialize product coatimns of
rHUPH20 with GAMMAGARD LIQUID. Pending the successEompletion of various regulatory and sales
milestones, Baxter will be obligated to make mi@st payments to us as well as royalty paymentb@sdles of
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products that result from the partnership. Baxdeesponsible for all development, manufacturitigjaal,
regulatory, sales and marketing costs under then@agard Partnership, while we will be responsibletti@ supply
of the rHUPH20 enzyme. In addition, Baxter hasaienproduct development and commercialization @ians in
major markets identified in the Gammagard Licetsdanuary of 2009 we announced the commencement of
Phase Il clinical trial for GAMMAGARD LIQUID withrHuPH20.

HYLENEX Partnership

HYLENEX is a human recombinant formulation of rHuBMHthat, when injected under the skin, facilitates
absorption and dispersion of other injected drugtu@ls. In February 2007, Halozyme and Baxter adesl certain
existing agreements relating to HYLENEX and enténéd a new agreement for kits and formulationdhwit
rHUPH20, or the HYLENEX Partnership. Pending thecessful completion of a series of regulatory aaldss
events, Baxter will be obligated to make milestpagments to us as well as royalty payments onales of
products that result from the partnership. Baxdeesponsible for development, manufacturing, céihiregulatory,
sales and marketing costs of the products coveyddebHYLENEX Partnership. We will continue to slypBaxter
with the active pharmaceutical ingredient for HYLEX| and Baxter will prepare, fill, finish and paga
HYLENEX and hold it for subsequent distribution.dddition, under the HYLENEX Partnership, Baxtes ha
worldwide, exclusive license to develop and comiadime product combinations of rHUPH20 with Baxgdratior
fluids and generic small molecule drugs, with tkeeption of combinations with (i) bisphosphonatesyvell as
(i) cytostatic and cytotoxic chemotherapeutic @gethe rights to which have been retained by Hattz

Revenues

Revenues from product sales depend on our ahilitievelop, manufacture, obtain regulatory approfaaland
successfully commercialize our products and prodantlidates.

Revenues from license and collaboration agreenasateecognized based on the performance requirsrént
the underlying agreements. Revenue is deferrefbés received before they are earned. Nonrefundgffent
payment and license fees, where we have an ongointyement or performance obligation, are recorded
deferred revenue and recognized as revenue ovepttiect or development period. Milestone paymanrgs
generally recognized as revenue upon the achieveshéme milestones as specified in the underhdaggeement,
assuming we meet certain criteria. Royalty reverfiiges the sale of licensed products are recognigexh the sale
of such products.

During 2006 and 2007, we entered into the Rochn&ahip, the HYLENEX Partnership and the Gammagard
Partnership. Elements of these partnerships inatoteefundable license fees, reimbursements oérelsend
development services, various clinical, regulatargales milestones and future product-based @ityogayments,
as applicable. Due to our ongoing involvement dailans under these partnerships, we recorded thiefumdable
license fees as deferred revenues. Such reveneiégiaig recognized over the terms of the underlgong@ements
that define the terms of the partnerships.

Costs and Expenses

Cost of Sales.Cost of sales consists primarily of raw materitigd-party manufacturing costs, fill and finish
costs, and freight costs associated with the sdl€simulase, and the API for HYLENEX.

Research and Developmen©Our research and development expenses congisilsi of costs associated with
the development and manufacturing of our produetiiclates, compensation and other expenses forrohsaad
development personnel, supplies and materialss éostonsultants and related contract researitical trials,
facility costs and depreciation. We charge all aesie and development expenses to operations astbegcurred.
Our research and development activities are prignfatused on the development of our various prodaadidates

Since our inception in 1998 through 2008, we haceiired research and development expenses of
$93.1 million. From 2006 through 2008, approximatEl% of our research and development expenses were
associated with the research and development alesombinant human PH20 enzyme used in our HYLENEX
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product, and approximately 11% and 8% of our reseand development expenses were associated with th
development of our PEGPH20 and Insulin-PH20 prodantidates, respectively. Due to the uncertaimty i
obtaining FDA approval, our reliance on third pastand competitive pressures, we are unable toastiwith any
certainty the additional costs we will incur in tbentinued development of our proprietary prodactdidates for
commercialization. However, we expect our researghdevelopment expenses to increase substaritiaiyare
able to advance our product candidates into laségres of clinical development.

Clinical development timelines, likelihood of sussend total costs vary widely. We anticipate watwill
make ongoing determinations as to which researdidaxmelopment projects to pursue and how much fgntti
direct to each project on an ongoing basis in nespdo the scientific and clinical progress of eadduct candidat
and other market and regulatory developments. \&ie @h focusing our resources on those proprietadypartnere
product candidates that represent the most valadoleromic and strategic opportunities.

Product candidate completion dates and costs vamyfisantly for each product candidate and ardiclift to
estimate. The lengthy process of seeking regulappyovals and the subsequent compliance with caigé
regulations require the expenditure of substangisburces. Any failure by us to obtain, or any géheobtaining,
regulatory approvals could cause our research ameldpment expenditures to increase and, in tave la material
adverse effect on our results of operations. Waagbe certain when, or if, our product candidatélkreceive
regulatory approval or whether any net cash inflawn our other product candidates, or developmeujepts, will
commence.

Selling, General and AdministrativeSelling, general and administrative, or SG&A, expes consist primarily
of compensation and other expenses related toaporate operations and administrative employessnunting
and legal fees, other professional services expensa&rketing expenses, as well as other expensesiated with
operating as a publicly traded company. We antteipantinued increases in SG&A expenses as ountipes
continue to expand.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

Our discussion and analysis of our financial positind results of operations are based on our tdatad
financial statements, which have been prepareddardance with U.S. generally accepted accountiimgiples, or
U.S. GAAP. The preparation of our consolidatedricial statements requires us to make estimatefudgchents
that affect the reported amounts of assets, liadslirevenues and expenses and related disclosooatingent
assets and liabilities. We review our estimateamongoing basis. We base our estimates on hiagt@xperience
and on various other assumptions that we beliebe teeasonable under the circumstances, the regwitsich form
the basis for making judgments about the carryailges of assets and liabilities. Actual results miffer from
these estimates under different assumptions orittonsl We believe the following accounting poliei® be critical
to the judgments and estimates used in the prépamitour consolidated financial statements.

Revenue Recognition

We generate revenues from product sales and codiib® agreements. Payments received under colitiber
agreements may include nonrefundable fees at tpiion of the agreements, license fees, milegtageents for
specific achievements designated in the collabaagreements, reimbursements of research andogeveht
services and/or royalties on sales of productdtiegufrom collaborative arrangements.

We recognize revenue in accordance with SEC StedbAnting Bulletin, or SAB, No. 10&Revenue
Recognitionand Emerging Issues Task Force, or EITF, IssuedDB®21,Revenue Arrangements with Multiple
Deliverables. Revenue is recognized when all of the followinigecia are met: (1) persuasive evidence of an
arrangement exists; (2) delivery has occurred nvices have been rendered; (3) the seller’s pddae buyer is
fixed and determinable; and (4) collectibility easonably assured.

Product Sales

Revenues from the sale of Cumulase are recognibed the transfer of ownership occurs, which is upon
shipment to the distributors. We are obligateddept returns for product that does not meet prioduc
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specifications. Historically, we have not had angdquct returns; therefore, no allowance for prodetirns has
been established.

Under the terms of the HYLENEX Partnership, we $y@axter the API for HYLENEX at our fully burdened
cost plus a margin. Baxter fills and finishes HYLEX and holds it for subsequent distribution, atethiime we
ensure it meets product specifications and relg@@seavailable for sale. Because of our continngdlvement in
the development and production process of HYLENtEX,earnings process is not considered to be comple
Accordingly, we defer the revenue and related pcodasts on the API for HYLENEX until the produstfilled,
finished, packaged and released. Baxter may otlyrré¢he API for HYLENEX to us if it does not comfo to
certain specified criteria set forth in the HYLENB&rtnership or upon termination of such agreenwsthave
historically demonstrated that the API shipped &xt@r has consistently met the specified critérierefore, no
allowance for product returns has been establidneatidition, we receive product-based paymentsupe sale of
HYLENEX by Baxter, in accordance with the termgalof HYLENEX Partnership. Product sales revenues are
recognized as we earn such revenues based on Basttggments of HYLENEX to its distributors whencsu
amounts can be reasonably estimated. Through Fgt2089, Baxter has prepaid $10.0 million of pragbased
payments which has been deferred and is being nezedjas earned.

Revenues under Collaborative Agreements

Revenues from collaborative and licensing agreesnam recognized based on the performance requitsrai
the underlying agreements. Revenue is deferrefbés received before they are earned. Nonrefundgffent
payments and license fees, in which we have aninggavolvement or performance obligation, are releal as
deferred revenue and recognized as revenue oveptiiect or development period. We recognize rahees
payments upon the achievement of specified milestdi(1) the milestone is substantive in nature e
achievement of the milestone was not reasonablyredst the inception of the agreement, (2) the &e
nonrefundable and (3) our performance obligatidtes ghe milestone achievement will continue tdflreded by ou
collaborator at a level comparable to the leveblethe milestone achievement. Any milestone paysneeived
prior to satisfying these revenue recognition ciatare recorded as deferred revenue. Reimburseroérgésearch
and development services are recognized as revknirg the period in which the services are perfminRoyaltie:
to be received based on sales of licensed protyatsir collaborators incorporating our productsraegnized as
earned in accordance with the terms of the undeglggreements.

Share-Based Payments

We account for share-based awards exchanged fdogepservices in accordance with Statement ofricia
Accounting Standards, or SFAS, No. 123(®)are-Based Paymemivhich we adopted effective January 1, 2006,
including the provisions of the SAB No. 107 and 1\M& use the fair value method to account for shased
payments with a modified prospective applicationichitprovides for certain changes to the method/&duing
share-based compensation. The valuation provigib85AS No. 123R apply to new awards and awardsattea
outstanding on the effective date and subsequemtliified or cancelled. Under the modified prospesti
application, prior periods were not revised for pamative purposes.

The fair value of each option award is estimatedhendate of grant using a Black-Scholes-Mertomoopt
pricing model, or Black-Scholes model, that usesiagptions regarding a number of complex and suigect
variables. These variables include, but are natdinto, our expected stock price volatility, adtaad projected
employee stock option exercise behaviors, risk-fneerest rate and expected dividends. Expectedatilibes are
based on the historical volatility of our commoacst and our peer group. The expected term of optipanted is
based on analyses of historical employee terminatites and option exercises. The risk-free inteedss are based
on the U.S. Treasury yield in effect at the timehaf grant. Since we do not expect to pay dividemdsur common
stock in the foreseeable future, we estimated ividehd yield to be 0%. SFAS No. 123R requiresédiitires to be
estimated at the time of grant and revised, if ag@gy, in subsequent periods if actual forfeituliéfer from those
estimates. We estimate pre-vesting forfeituresdaseour historical experience and those of our gesup.
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If factors change and we employ different assunmgtio the application of SFAS No. 123R in futureipds,
the share-based compensation expense that we namded SFAS No. 123R may differ significantly fravhat we
have recorded in the current period. There is b Hagree of subjectivity involved when using optpiting model:
to estimate share-based compensation under SFA$28&. Certain share-based payments, such as epepsbyck
options, may expire worthless or otherwise resultdro intrinsic value as compared to the fair galariginally
estimated on the grant date and reported in owsamated financial statements. Alternatively, esumay be
realized from these instruments that are signiflgan excess of the fair values originally estie@bn the grant de
and reported in our consolidated financial statemeérhere is currently no market-based mechanisather
practical application to verify the reliability amgtcuracy of the estimates stemming from theseatialu models, nc
is there a means to compare and adjust the estinmtetual values. Although the fair value of eoypke share-
based awards is determined in accordance with S¥&323R and SAB No. 107 and 110 using an optiociyy
model, that value may not be indicative of the failue observed in a willing buyer/willing sellelarket transactiol

Research and Development Expenses

Research and development expenses include saaddsenefits, facilities and other overhead expgnse
clinical trials, research-related manufacturing/gers, contract services and other outside expeRessarch and
development expenses are charged to operatiohgwsare incurred. Advance payments, including nomagable
amounts, for goods or services that will be useatndered for future research and developmentiaetiare
deferred and capitalized. Such amounts will begetzed as an expense as the related goods arerdelior the
related services are performed. If the goods waillbre delivered, or services will not be rendetkdn the
capitalized advance payment is charged to expense.

Milestone payments that we make in connection witlicensed technology or product candidates are esqu
as incurred when there is uncertainty in receifirigre economic benefits from the licensed techgylor product
candidates. We consider the future economic banieditn the licensed technology or product candglaiee
uncertain until such licensed technology or proaactdidates are approved for marketing by the Bo8d and
Drug Administration or when other significant rifdctors are abated. For expense accounting purposeggeme
has viewed future economic benefits for all of icensed technology or product candidates to bertair.

Payments in connection with our clinical trials afeen made under contracts with multiple contrasearch
organizations that conduct and manage clinicdktoa our behalf. The financial terms of these agrents are
subject to negotiation and vary from contract totcact and may result in uneven payment flows. Galye these
agreements set forth the scope of work to be peddrat a fixed fee, unit price or on a time-andemat basis.
Payments under these contracts depend on facttisasithe successful enrollment or treatment eép@tor the
completion of other clinical trial milestones. Exyges related to clinical trials are accrued basedus estimates
and/orrepresentations from service providers regardindkyerformed, including actual level of patient@mment,
completion of patient studies and clinical triatsgress. Other incidental costs related to pagentliment or
treatment are accrued when reasonably certainel€bntracted amounts are modified (for instanee, @esult of
changes in the clinical trial protocol or scopenofrk to be performed), we modify our accruals adeagly on a
prospective basis. Revisions in scope of contnactharged to expense in the period in which thtsfinat give rise
to the revision become reasonably certain. Becafigee uncertainty of possible future changes &stope of wor
in clinical trials contracts, we are unable to difgran estimate of the reasonably likely effectaofy such changes
on our consolidated results of operations or firrmosition. Historically, we have had no matedhhnges in our
clinical trial expense accruals that would have &adaterial impact on our consolidated resultspafrations or
financial position.

Inventory

Inventory consists of our Cumulase product andARirfor HYLENEX. Inventory primarily represents raw
materials used in production, work in process amidlied goods inventory on hand, valued at actost. dnventory
is reviewed periodically for slow-moving or obs@étems. If a launch of a new product is delayedentory may
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not be fully utilized and could be subject to impaént, at which point we would record a reservadjust inventor
to its net realizable value.

Fair Value Measurements

Effective January 1, 2008, we adopted SFAS No. E&if,Value Measurementsand FASB Staff Position, or
FSP, No. FAS 157-Fetermining the Fair Value of a Financial Asset \Whiee Market for That Asset is Not Active
SFAS No. 157 defines fair value, establishes adrmark for measuring fair value under U.S. GAAP anttances
disclosures about fair value measurements. FSFENS.157-3clarifies the application of SFAS No. 157 in a el
that is not active and provides an example totiliue key considerations in determining the falugaof a financial
asset when the market for that financial assettisative. The adoption of SFAS No. 157 and FSP
No. FAS 15-3 did not have a material impact on our consofiddinancial position or results of operations.

SFAS 157 prioritizes the inputs used in measuraigvialue into the following hierarchy:

Level 1 Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets feniital assets or liabilitie

Level 2 Inputs other than quoted prices included withindlelvthat are either directly or indirectly
observable; an

Level 3  Unobservable inputs in which little or no marketivty exists, therefore requiring an entity to
develop its own assumptions about the assumpti@tsrarket participants would use in prici

Cash and cash equivalents of approximately $63libmat December 31, 2008 are carried at fair gddased
on quoted market prices for identical securitiesv@l 1 inputs).

Effective January 1, 2008, we adopted SFAS No. Th8,Fair Value Option for Financial Assets and
Financial Liabilities. SFAS No. 159 allows an entity the irrevocabldéapto elect to measure specified financial
assets and liabilities in their entirety at faifueaon a contract-by-contract basis. If an entiéges the fair value
option for an eligible item, changes in the itelfidis value must be reported as unrealized gaind@sses in
earnings at each subsequent reporting date. IrtiaddpFAS No. 159, we did not elect the fair vatystion for any
of our financial assets or financial liabilities.

The above listing is not intended to be a comprsiverist of all of our accounting policies. In nyatases, the
accounting treatment of a particular transactiospiscifically dictated by U.S. GAAP. There are aseas in which
our management’s judgment in selecting any avalalibrnative would not produce a materially diéferresult.
Please see our audited consolidated financialrstates and notes thereto included in Part 1| — 182af this report,
which contain accounting policies and other disafes required by U.S. GAAP.

Results of Operations
Comparison of Years Ended December 31, 2008 and7200

Revenues Under Collaborative Agreements Revenues under collaborative agreements wen®xpmately
$8.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2088 pgared to $3.2 million for the year ended Decenier2007.
Revenues under collaborative agreements primaoifgisted of the amortization of license fees arldstone
payments received from Baxter and Roche of apprateiy $3.4 million and $1.9 million in 2008 and Z00
respectively. Revenues under collaborative agreevadso included reimbursements for research anelojgment
services from Baxter of $3.0 million and $543,00@ &oche of $1.7 million and $749,000 in 2008 a6d 72
respectively. Such reimbursements are for resemrdtdevelopment services rendered by us at thesegtiBaxter
and Roche and the amount of future revenues refateimbursable research and development seridaggcertain
We expect the non-reimbursement revenues undesatlaborative agreements to continue to increadeture
periods provided that we meet various clinical eeglilatory milestones set forth in such agreements.

Product Sales— Product sales were $712,000 for the year endedrbtsme31, 2008 compared to $640,00(
the year ended December 31, 2007. The increase2od@0, or 11%, was primarily due to the increassailes
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of HYLENEX and the API for HYLENEX. Based upon regentations made to us by Baxter regarding the 2009
launch of HYLENEX, we expect product sales to imsein future periods due to increased HYLENEXssale

Cost of Sales— Cost of sales were $332,000 for the year endszkmBber 31, 2008 compared to $240,000 for
the year ended December 31, 2007. The increase2od@0, or 38%, was due to the increase in salésoAPI for
HYLENEX and an increase in the cost of Cumulasessid 2008.

Research and Development- Research and development expenses were $44i@nfdr the year ended
December 31, 2008 compared to $20.6 million forytear ended December 31, 2007. The increase o6 $aiion,
or 115%, was primarily due to the increase in aurtsed research and development costs of $10.6miltelated to
our various preclinical programs and the manufaaguscale-up of our rHUPH20 enzyme, and increased
compensation costs of $6.6 million, of which $8T®,0elated to increased share-based compensationarily due
to the increase in our research and developmenlcbeat. At December 31, 2008, our headcount faraeh and
development functions totaled 96 employees, contpaith 56 employees at December 31, 2007. Additlgnaur
clinical trial expenses increased by $3.0 millimsearch supplies expenses increased by $1.3mréllid facilities
expenses increased by $1.2 million resulting freasing larger facilities effective July 2007 to@menodate the
increase in headcount in 2008 as compared to 20@7#&xpect certain research and development costsrease in
future periods as we increase our research effiodsheadcount, expand our clinical trials and comtito develop
and manufacture our product candidates.

Selling, General and Administrative— SG&A expenses were $14.6 million for the yeademhDecember 31,
2008 compared to $11.2 million for the year endeddnber 31, 2007. The increase of approximately Sdlion,
or 30%, was primarily due to the increase in conspéon costs of $2.0 million, of which $237,000atet to share-
based compensation. At December 31, 2008, our beatlfor SG&A functions totaled 34 employees, corega
with 27 employees at December 31, 2007. Legal esgealso increased during this period by $955,60&hich
$576,000 related to patent applications and $6868lated to the settlement of an arbitration makecilities
expenses also increased by $246,000 and insurapeeses increased by $273,000 in 2008 as compaZaDy.
We expect SG&A expenses to increase in future gerés we continue to expand our operations.

Share-Based Compensation- Total compensation cost for our share-based paysnwas $3.7 million for the
year ended December 31, 2008 compared to $2.@mflhir the year ended December 31, 2007. Reseatt
development expense included share-based compamséthpproximately $1.5 million and $663,000 ir08Gnd
2007, respectively. SG&A expenses included shasedaompensation of approximately $2.2 million and
$1.9 million in 2008 and 2007, respectively. AdDafcember 31, 2008, $6.5 million of total unrecogdiz
compensation costs related to non-vested stockrmgptind restricted stock awards is expected tedmgnized over
a weighted average period of 2.8 years.

Interest Income — Interest income was $1.7 million for the yeadet December 31, 2008 compared to
$4.3 million for the year ended December 31, 200ie decrease in interest income was primarily duewer
interest rates and lower average cash and cashadepii balances in 2008 as compared to the sandper2007.

Net Loss — Net loss for the year ended December 31, 20G8$48.7 million, or $0.61 per common share,
compared to $23.9 million, or $0.32 per common sliiar the year ended December 31, 2007. The inelieaset
loss was primarily due to an increase in operatixgenses, partially offset by increases in revenues

Comparison of Years Ended December 31, 2007 and5200

Revenues Under Collaborative Agreements Revenues under collaborative agreements wen®xipmately
$3.2 million for the year ended December 31, 20@Mpared to $311,000 for the year ended Decembe2(RE.
Revenues under collaborative agreements primaoifgisted of the amortization of upfront fees reedifrom
Baxter and Roche of approximately $1.9 million 84,000 in 2007 and 2006, respectively. Revenudsmun
collaborative agreements also included reimbursésrfenresearch and development services from Baxie
Roche of $1.3 million and $230,000 in 2007 and 2088pectively.

Product Sales— Product sales were $640,000 for the year endedrbe®e31, 2007 compared to $671,00(
the year ended December 31, 2006, a decrease @i088Dbr 5%. Cumulase product sales were $516,080 a
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$342,000 in 2007 and 2006, respectively. SalehofP| for HYLENEX decreased by $205,000 resulfirogn the
disposition by Baxter of short-dated HYLENEX viats2006.

Cost of Sales— Cost of sales were $240,000 for the year endszkmBber 31, 2007 compared to $437,000 for
the year ended December 31, 2006, a decrease @f0R0) or 45%. The decrease was primarily duedaldétrease
in sales of the API for HYLENEX resulting from tliésposition by Baxter of short-dated HYLENEX vi&hs2006.

Research and Development- Research and development expenses were $20i@fdr the year ended
December 31, 2007 compared to $9.2 million foryibar ended December 31, 2006. The increase of dpmately
$11.4 million was primarily due to the increasmirisourced research and development expensesoifriion due
to our various preclinical programs and the martuféing scale-up of our rHuUPH20 enzyme. In addition,
compensation costs increased by $2.8 million, attw$238,000 related to share-based compensation. A
December 31, 2007, our headcount for research evelapment functions totaled 56 employees, compaitd
25 employees at December 31, 2006. Additionally facilities expenses increased by $1.3 milliosgarch
supplies and services expenses increased by $48r@depreciation expense increased by $281,000.

Selling, General and Administrative— SG&A expenses were $11.2 million for the yeadeshDecember 31,
2007 compared to $6.9 million for the year endedddeber 31, 2006. The increase of approximately B4ll®n
was primarily due to the increase in compensatasiscof $2.5 million, of which $1.1 million relatéal share-based
compensation. At December 31, 2007, our headcaur8 G&A functions totaled 27 employees, comparetth wi
11 employees at December 31, 2006. In additiorerdtitreases included an increase in legal expepsegrily
related to intellectual property matters and callative agreements, of $554,000 and an increaeeilities
expenses of $367,000.

Share-Based Compensation- Total compensation cost for our share-based paysnwas $2.6 million for the
year ended December 31, 2007 compared to $1.3mfthir the year ended December 31, 2006. Researt
development expense included shbased compensation of approximately $663,000 agd,$80, respectively, fc
the years ended December 31, 2007 and 2006. SGfAnses included shabassed compensation of approxima
$1.9 million and $850,000, respectively, for thargeended December 31, 2007 and 2006.

Interest Income — Interest income was $4.3 million for the yeadet December 31, 2007 compared to
$831,000 for the year ended December 31, 2006innease in interest income was due to higher geecash and
cash equivalents balances during 2007.

Net Loss — Net loss for the year ended December 31, 20G7$28.9 million, or $0.32 per common share,
compared to $14.8 million, or $0.24 per common sliiar the year ended December 31, 2006. The inelieaset
loss was primarily due to an increase in operagixenses, partially offset by increases in reveanésinterest
income.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Our principal sources of liquidity are our existiogsh and cash equivalents. As of December 31, 2098ad
cash and cash equivalents of approximately $63liomiWe expect our cash requirements to incressee
continue to increase our research and developroergdek regulatory approvals of, and develop aadufacture
our current product candidates. As we expand aegarech and development efforts and pursue additwoduct
opportunities, we anticipate additional cash rezpants for hiring of personnel, capital expendiwed investmel
in additional internal systems and infrastructiiee amount and timing of cash requirements willeatebon the
research, development, manufacture, regulatorynzaritet acceptance of our product candidates, if amg the
resources we devote to researching, developingufaeturing, commercializing and supporting our prctd
candidates.

We believe that our current cash and cash equitsleill be sufficient to fund our operations forl@ast the
next twelve months. Currently, we anticipate neshclaurn of approximately $30.0 to $35.0 million foe year
ending December 31, 2009, depending on the progfessious preclinical and clinical programs, theing of our
manufacturing scale up and the achievement of vanwilestones under our existing collaborative agrents. We
do not expect our revenues to be sufficient to foperations for at least several years. We expefeintd our
operations going forward with existing cash researanticipated revenues from our existing collatbons and
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cash that we will raise through future transactidfie may finance future cash needs through anybtte
following financing vehicles: (i) the public offery of securities; (ii) new collaborative agreemg(it§ expansions
or revisions to existing collaborative relationghifiv) private financings and/or (v) other equitydebt financings.

In November 2008, we filed a shelf registratiortestzent on Form S-3 (Registration No. 333-155787¢kwh
initially allowed us, from time to time, to offend sell up to $50.0 million of equity or debt seties. We cannot be
certain that our existing cash and cash equivalgilitbe adequate for our anticipated needs or éaalitional
financing will be available when needed or thagwvéilable, financing will be obtained on termsdeable to us or
our stockholders. Having insufficient funds wilbreére us to delay, scale back or eliminate somedl@f our
research and development programs or delay thehaofnour product candidates. If we raise additiduads by
issuing equity securities, substantial dilutiorexisting stockholders could result. If we raiseiiddal funds by
incurring debt financing, the terms of the debt rimagplve significant cash payment obligations adl e covenant
and specific financial ratios that may restrict ability to operate our business.

Operating Activities

Net cash used in operations was $35.4 million dytire year ended December 31, 2008 compared tqCKI8
of net cash used in operations during the yearc&eBadeember 31, 2007. This change was primarilytduecreased
operating expenses of approximately $27.2 millisnwvall as reduced receipts from partnership paysneft
approximately $10.2 million during 2008 as compa@&007.

Net cash used in operations was $148,000 duringegheended December 31, 2007 compared to $7.bmill
of cash provided by operations during the year éridkecember 31, 2006. This change was primarilytduke
$9.1 million increase in the total net loss for 2@ compared to 2006.

Investing Activities

Net cash used in investing activities was $1.2iamlburing the year ended December 31, 2008 cordiare
$2.4 million during the year ended December 31,720bis was primarily due to a decrease in purchas@ropert
and equipment during 2008.

Net cash used in investing activities was $2.4iamlturing the year ended December 31, 2007 cordiare
$365,000 during the year ended December 31, 206.Was due to an increase in purchases of propady
equipment during 2007.

Financing Activities

Net cash provided by financing activities was $RiBion during the year ended December 31, 2008 mzmed
to $56.0 million during the year ended December2BD;7. Net cash provided by financing activitiesiy 2008
primarily consisted of proceeds from warrant amtlstoption exercises. Net cash provided by finageictivities
during 2007 primarily consisted of approximately2¥bmillion in proceeds, net of issuance costsnfeales of our
common stock and approximately $4.0 million in preds from warrant and stock option exercises.

Net cash provided by financing activities was $56ibion during the year ended December 31, 2003ue
$18.3 million during the year ended December 30620let cash provided by financing activities dgr2006
primarily consisted of approximately $11.0 millianproceeds, net of issuance costs, from salesrof@mmon
stock and approximately $7.3 million in proceedas frwarrant and stock option exercises.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements As of December 31, 2008, we did not have amgtiaiships with
unconsolidated entities or financial partnershgush as entities often referred to as structureshfie or special
purpose entities, which would have been establistrethe purpose of facilitating off-balance shastngements or
other contractually narrow or limited purposesatidition, we did not engage in trading activitiegdlving non-
exchange traded contracts. As such, we are notialfteexposed to any financing, liquidity, marlatcredit risk
that could arise if we had engaged in these reishkiips.
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Contractual Obligations— As of December 31, 2008, future minimum paymeilois under our contractual
obligations are as follows:

Payments Due by Period

Less than More than

Contractual Obligations: Total 1 Year 1-3 Years 4-5 Years 5 Years
Operating lease $ 9,945,270 $ 2,350,131 $4,936,20° $2,658,931 $ —
License payment 2,435,001 480,00( 610,00( 610,00( 735,00(
Purchase obligations(: 15,352,73 15,352,73 — — —
Total $27,733,01 $18,182,86 $5,5646,20° $3,268,93i  $735,00(

(1) Purchase obligations include outstanding purchaders for outsourced research and developmentcgsrior
our various preclinical and clinical programs, floe manufacturing of our products for clinical ammnmercial
use and other recurring purchases and services im#gie normal course of busine

As of December 31, 2008, we had no long-term debapital lease obligations.

Our future capital uses and requirements depentuorerous forward-looking factors. These factors may
include, but are not limited to, the following:

« the rate of progress and cost of research and @@weint activities
« the number and scope of our research activi

« the costs of filing, prosecuting, defending andecihg any patent claims and other intellectuapprty
rights;

 our ability to establish and maintain product diseny and development collaboratiol
« the effect of competing technological and marketettgoments
« the terms and timing of any collaborative, licegsand other arrangements that we may establisk

« the extent to which we acquire o-license new products, technologies or busine:

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

See Note 2Summary of Significant Accounting Policies — Pegdidoption of Recent Accounting
Pronouncement, in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statemfmmta discussion of recent accounting
pronouncements and their effect, if any, on the gamy.

ltem 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About MagkRisk

Our primary exposure to market risk is interesbime sensitivity, which is affected by changes mdgeneral
level of U.S. interest rates, particularly becatigemajority of our investments are in short-tererketable
securities. The primary objective of our investmecitivities is to preserve principal while at tlzere time
maximizing the income we receive from our investtaewithout significantly increasing risk. Some bétsecurities
that we invest in may be subject to market riskisTheans that a change in prevailing interest mateg cause the
value of the investment to fluctuate. For examiflere purchase a security that was issued witkkedfinterest rate
and the prevailing interest rate later rises, tilee of our investment will probably decline. Tonmiize this risk,
we intend to continue to maintain our portfoliocafsh equivalents and short-term investments irriatyaof
securities including commercial paper, money maitkwetls and government and non-government debt iiesuin
general, money market funds are not subject to etaisk because the interest paid on such fundsufides with th
prevailing interest rate. As of December 31, 2008 did not have any holdings of derivative finahoiacommodity
instruments, or any foreign currency denominatadgactions, and all of our cash and cash equivaleste in
money market mutual funds and other investmentsabadelieve to be highly liquid.

34




Table of Contents

Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data

Our financial statements are annexed to this rdmginning on page F-1.

Item 9. Changes In and Disagreements with Accountants oncdgnting and Financial Disclosure

None.

Item 9A. Controls and Procedures

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

We maintain disclosure controls and proceduresdietesigned to ensure that information requindukt
disclosed in our Exchange Act reports is recorgencessed, summarized and reported within the iti@&kpecifie
in the Securities and Exchange Commission’s rutesfarms, and that such information is accumulated
communicated to our management, including our Ciefcutive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, as
appropriate, to allow timely decision regardinguiegd disclosure. In designing and evaluating tiseldsure
controls and procedures, management recognizednlyatontrols and procedures, no matter how weligshed and
operated, can only provide reasonable assuranaehadving the desired control objectives, and acthéng a
reasonable level of assurance, management nedgssasirequired to apply its judgment in evaluatihg cost-
benefit relationship of possible controls and pohes.

Under the supervision and with the participatiomof management, including our principal executffecer
and principal financial officer, we conducted amlenation of our disclosure controls and proceduaessuch term is
defined under Rule 13a-15(e) promulgated undeStdwurities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. Baséldis
evaluation, our principal executive officer and puncipal financial officer concluded that our dissure controls
and procedures were effective as of the end gbéhnied covered by this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

There have been no significant changes in ournaterontrol over financial reporting that occurdding the
quarter ended December 31, 2008, that have mayeaifédcted, or are reasonably likely to materiaffect our
internal control over financial reporting.

Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Finandal Reporting

Our management is responsible for establishingnaaidtaining adequate internal control over finahcia
reporting. Internal control over financial repogiis defined in Rule 13a-15(f) and Rule 15d-15¢frpulgated
under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 as aggsdesigned by, or under the supervision of, oocipal
executive and principal financial officers and efél by our board of directors, management and géesonnel, to
provide reasonable assurance regarding the réfjabflfinancial reporting and the preparation ivfaincial
statements for external purposes in accordanceggitlerally accepted accounting principles and dretuthose
policies and procedures that:

 Pertain to the maintenance of records that in regtsle detail accurately and fairly reflect the s@ctions an
dispositions of our asse!

« Provide reasonable assurance that transactiome@eled as necessary to permit preparation ofi¢iah
statements in accordance with generally accepteauating principles, and that receipts and expengkt ar
being made only in accordance with authorizatidnsuo management and directors; ¢

» Provide reasonable assurance regarding preventibmely detection of unauthorized acquisition, ose
disposition of our assets that could have a mateffiact on our financial statemen
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Because of its inherent limitations, internal cohtver financial reporting may not prevent or dete
misstatements. Projections of any evaluation aatiffeness to future periods are subject to thethiat controls
may become inadequate because of changes in amyjitr that the degree of compliance with thecpesi or
procedures may deteriorate.

Our management assessed the effectiveness oftetmahcontrol over financial reporting as of Detemn31,
2008. In making this assessment, our managemedtthseriteria set forth by the Committee of Spoimgp
Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSOpternal Control-Integrated Framework.

Based on our assessment, management concludeddhudtDecember 31, 2008, our internal control over
financial reporting is effective based on thosécia.

The independent registered public accounting fiat udited the consolidated financial statemérasare
included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K hasiestan audit report on the effectiveness of owriral control
over financial reporting as of December 31, 200& Weport appears below.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accountingrirm

The Board of Directors and Stockholders
Halozyme Therapeutics, Inc.

We have audited Halozyme Therapeutics, Inc.’s iv@kecontrol over financial reporting as of Decem®gy
2008, based on criteria established in Internalt@br— Integrated Framework issued by the Committee
Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commisftleen COSO criteria). Halozyme Therapeutics, Inc.’s
management is responsible for maintaining effedtiternal control over financial reporting and fte assessment
of the effectiveness of internal control over fingh reporting included in the accompanying Managetis Report
on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting. Oesponsibility is to express an opinion on the camyfsainternal
control over financial reporting based on our audit

We conducted our audit in accordance with the stadgdof the Public Company Accounting OversightriBoa
(United States). Those standards require that e g@hd perform the audit to obtain reasonable assarabout
whether effective internal control over financieporting was maintained in all material respects. &udit included
obtaining an understanding of internal control dugincial reporting, assessing the risk that aemaltweakness
exists, testing and evaluating the design and ¢ipgraffectiveness of internal control based onabsessed risk,
and performing such other procedures as we comsldercessary in the circumstances. We believethaudit
provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

A company'’s internal control over financial repogiis a process designed to provide reasonablesass
regarding the reliability of financial reportingathe preparation of financial statements for exdepurposes in
accordance with generally accepted accounting ipfeez A company’s internal control over finanaiaporting
includes those policies and procedures that (Iajpeto the maintenance of records that, in reasiendetail,
accurately and fairly reflect the transactions disghositions of the assets of the company; (2) idmveasonable
assurance that transactions are recorded as ngctsparmit preparation of financial statementadcordance wit
generally accepted accounting principles, andréwdipts and expenditures of the company are beadg only in
accordance with authorizations of management amdtdis of the company; and (3) provide reasonasdeirance
regarding prevention or timely detection of unauitted acquisition, use, or disposition of the comps assets that
could have a material effect on the financial stegets.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal cohtiver financial reporting may not prevent or dete
misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluatibeffectiveness to future periods are subjecheorisk that
controls may become inadequate because of chamgesdlitions, or that the degree of compliance wWithpolicies
or procedures may deteriorate.

In our opinion, Halozyme Therapeutics, Inc. maimégi, in all material respects, effective interraitcol over
financial reporting as of December 31, 2008, basethe COSO criteria.

We also have audited, in accordance with the stasd# the Public Company Accounting Oversight Boar
(United States), the consolidated balance shedislozyme Therapeutics, Inc. as of December 318 200 2007,
and the related consolidated statements of opestaash flows and stockholders’ equity for eacthefthree years
in the period ended December 31, 2008 and our reladed March 11, 2009 expressed an unqualifiediapi
thereon.

/sl Ernst & Young LLP
San Diego, California

March 11, 2009
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Iltem 9B. Other Information
None.

PART IlI

Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Govente

The information required by this item regardingediors is incorporated by reference to our DefipifProxy
Statement (the “Proxy Statement”) to be filed with Securities and Exchange Commission in conmeetith our
2009 Annual Meeting of Stockholders under the hagdlection of Directors.” The information requitéy this
item regarding compliance with Section 16(a) of Seeurities Exchange Act of 1934, as amendedcimfiorated
by reference to the information under the captiGorhpliance with Section 16(a) of the Exchange Actbe
contained in the Proxy Statement. The informatemuired by this item regarding our code of ethicimcorporated
by reference to the information under the capti@ode of Conduct and Ethics” to be contained inRnaxy
Statement. The information required by this itegareling our audit committee is incorporated by nexfee to the
information under the caption “Board Meetings arahinittees - Audit Committee” to be contained in Buoxy
Statement.

Executive Officers

Jonathan E. Lim, M.D. (37Rresident, Chief Executive Officer and Director. Dm became employee num!
five when he joined Halozyme in May 2003 as Presidead CEO. He was elected to the Board of Diredtor
October 2003 and served as Chairman from April 200@ecember 2005. Under Dr. Lim’s leadership, Hghoe
has raised over $180 million from financings anthooate partnerships, signed major alliances wihHe and
Baxter, received two FDA approvals, for HYLENEX a@dmulase, and transitioned into a NASDAQ listed
company with approximately 130 employees. From 2002003, Dr. Lim was a management consultant at
McKinsey & Company, where he specialized in thelthezare industry, serving a wide range of compsifiem
start-ups to Fortune 500 multinationals in the hempmaceutical, medical products and payor/provsggments.
From 1999 to 2001, Dr. Lim was a National Instituté Health Postdoctoral Fellow conducting clinioatcomes
research at Harvard Medical School. Dr. Lim’s pssfenal experience also includes clinical trairimgeneral
surgery at the New York Hospital-Cornell Medicaln® and Memorial Sloan-Kettering Cancer Centeurféer
and President of a health care technology startapnding Editor-in-Chief of the McGill Journal bfedicine;
basic science and clinical research at the Satkutes for Biological Studies and the Massachudejts and Ear
Infirmary; and membership on the strategic planmiogmittee of the American Medical Association fra602 to
2005. Dr. Lim earned his B.S., with honors, and MhSnolecular biology from Stanford Universityshil.D. from
McGill University and his M.P.H. in health care nagement from Harvard University.

Gregory |. Frost, Ph.D. (37)ice President, Chief Scientific Officer and DirectDr. Frost co-founded
Halozyme in 1999 and has spent more than fourtearsyconducting research on the hyaluronidase yfarhil
enzymes. From 1998 to 1999, he was a Senior Rés8arentist at the Sidney Kimmel Cancer Center (SKC
where he focused much of his work on developinghfaduronidase technology. Prior to SKCC, his regea the
Department of Pathology at the University of Califia, San Francisco, led directly to the purifioaticloning and
characterization of the human hyaluronidase geméyfaand the discovery of several metabolic disosdele has
authored multiple scientific peeeviewed and invited articles in the hyaluronidfiskel and is an inventor on seve
key patents. Dr. Frost’s prior experience inclusieying as a scientific consultant to a numberigplarmaceutical
companies, including Q-Med AB, BioPhausia AB andive Biotech AB. Dr. Frost is registered to praetlmefore
the U.S. Patent and Trademark Office and earneB.Aisin biochemistry and molecular biology froneth
University of California, Santa Cruz, and his Phiibthe Department of Pathology at the UniversitZalifornia,
San Francisco, where he was an Achievement Revi@r@ollege Scientists Scholar.

David A. Ramsay, MBA (44Yice President, Chief Financial Officer. Mr. Ramgaiyed Halozyme in 2003. t
has over 20 years of corporate financial experiepegning several industries. From 2000 to 2003vdsVice
President, Chief Financial Officer of Lathian Syste a provider of technology-based sales solufionte life
sciences industry. Prior to Lathian, Mr. Ramsay Wiae President, Treasurer of ICN Pharmaceuticadsy called
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Valeant Pharmaceuticals International, a multimetipspecialty pharmaceutical company. Mr. Rameaep ICN
in 1998 from ARCO, where he spent four years ot financial roles, most recently serving as Myamaof
Financial Planning & Analysis for the company’sdQ7station West Coast Retail Marketing NetworkoPto
ARCO, he served as Vice President, Controller fxusity Pacific Asian Bank, a subsidiary of SeguRgcific
Corporation. He began his career as an auditoehtitie & Touche, where he obtained his CPA license

Mr. Ramsay served as Chairman of the Audit Committied on the Board of Directors for Axxora Life Swes,
Inc., a privately held, worldwide research reagemhpany which was acquired by Enzo Biochem in 2007.

Mr. Ramsay graduated from the University of Califay Berkeley, with a B.S. in business adminisbratind earne
his M.B.A. with a dual major in finance and strateganagement from The Wharton School at the Usityeof
Pennsylvania.

Robert L. Little (59)Vice President, Chief Commercial Officer. Mr. Léttloined Halozyme in 2006 with
extensive experience in the pharmaceutical industgeneral management, commercial operationss sele
marketing and business development. From 2003@6,24r. Little was Senior Vice President of Comniairc
Operations at Neurocrine Biosciences, where herasgonsible for building and managing the salesmaarketing
functions. During his tenure, Mr. Little put in pkaa fully integrated commercial organization, inthg a marketin
team, a 200-person CNS sales force and full lagiktind infrastructure support in order to co-detaloft ® with
Pfizer and in preparation for the introduction diblon® . From 1985 to 2003, Mr. Little was at Pharmaaie, |
where his most recent position was Group Vice Besgj Diversified Products. His responsibilitieslided
managing Pharmacia’s Diversified Products busiressyell as forming a new global business unit ingrgricing,
reimbursement and health outcomes groups to focusioent industry issues, pricing and drug valiesm 1999
to 2001, Mr. Little was Group Vice President, SpétgiProducts and worldwide head of a $2.5 billiglnbal
specialty products business (ophthalmology, endotgy, neurology and others). Mr. Little previgubkeld a
number of positions within Pharmacia, includingdfdent and Managing Director of Pharmacia in Mildaly,
President of Pharmacia & UpJohn in Canada andd@essof Pharmacia, Inc. in Canada. Prior to joirftgirmacia,
he held positions at Adria Laboratories and Milebaratories/Bayer AG in the U.K., Italy, and th&UMr. Little
earned his degree in economics and finance froriMégt London Business School, Ealing Technical &gl

William J. Fallon (52) Vice President, Manufacturing & Operations. Mr.lBaljoined Halozyme in 2006 as
Vice President, Manufacturing & Operations. Higu@ssibilities include oversight of all aspectsmtirnal and
external manufacturing and facilities operatiorsswall as bioprocess development. Prior to Halozymeeserved as
President and Chief Executive Officer of CytovaBaglogics, a contract manufacturing organizatioat forovides
manufacturing and development services to the thotelogy industry. From 2001 to 2003, he was Vimesklent o
Technical Operations at Genzyme Corporation, hakigld the same position at Novazyme Pharmaceuticels
prior to its acquisition by Genzyme in 2001. Mrlléa joined Novazyme from Transkaryotic Therapiebgere he
was Vice President of Manufacturing from 1998 tO20From 1993 to 1998, he was employed in several
management positions for the Ares-Serono Groupydireg Vice President, U.S. Manufacturing Operagidn this
role, he served as general manager, overseeimgdhbection and distribution of all of Serono’s apyed
biotechnology products in the U.S. From 1990 to213® was Director of Manufacturing for Centococ.IHis
prior experience also includes various managentahbaerational roles at Invitron Corporation andvimol-
Genentech Diagnostics. Mr. Fallon earned a B.#anne science and a B.A. in biology from Long hela
University, and an M.S. in biology from Northeastémiversity.

Item 11. Executive Compensatio

The information required by this item is incorp@by reference to the information under the captio
“Executive Compensation” to be contained in thexiprstatement.
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Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners anbnagement and Related Stockholder Matt

The information required by this item is incorpeby reference to the information under the capt®ecurit)
Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Manageraad Related Stockholder Matters” to be containdtle
Proxy Statement.

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, abitector Independenci

The information required by this item is incorpeby reference to the information under the capt@ertain
Relationships and Related Transactions, and Diréctiependence” to be contained in the Proxy Stateém

Item 14. Principal Accounting Fees and Servict

The information required by this item is incorpaby reference to the information under the captio
“Principal Accounting Fees and Services” contaiimethe Proxy Statement.
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PART IV

Item 15. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedul

(a) Documents filed as part of this report.

1.

2.

Financial Statements:

Page
Report of Independent Registered Public Accounfiiimgn — Ernst & Young LLP F-1
Consolidated Balance Sheets at December 31, 2@D3G0Y F-2

Consolidated Statements of Operations for Eacheiyiears Ended December 31, 2008, 2007 and

2006 F-3
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for Eacheiyiears Ended December 31, 2008, 2007 and

2006 F-4
Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equitygach of the Years Ended December 31, 2008,

2007 and 200 F-5
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statem F-6

List of all Financial Statement schedules. Aledules are omitted because they are not apmicatihe

required information is shown in the Financial 8taénts or notes thereto.

3. List of Exhibits required by Item 601 of RegigatS-K. See part (b) below.
(b) Exhibits:
2.1  Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated November 1@7 20y and between the Registrant and the
Registrar’s predecessor Nevada corporatiot
3.1 Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporatiafiled with the Delaware Secretary of State on
October 7, 2007(Z
3.2 Certificate of Designation, Preferences and Rightke terms of the Series A Preferred Stoc
3.3 Bylaws(2)
4.1 Amended Rights Agreement between Corporate Stoaksfer, as rights agent, and Registrant, dated
November 12, 2007(2(
1C.1  License Agreement between University of Connectémd Registrant, dated November 15, 200
1C.2  First Amendment to the License Agreement betweerddsity of Connecticut and Registrant, dated

January 9, 2006(¢

10.3* Commercial Supply Agreement with Avid Bioservicks;. and Registrant, dated February 16, 200

1C.4*

First Amendment to the Commercial Supply Agreentativeen Avid Bioservices, Inc. and Registrant,
dated December 15, 2006(1

10.5* Clinical Supply Agreement between Cook PharmicaCldnd Registrant, dated August 15, 2008

1C0.6

Form of Common Stock Purchase Warran

1C.7# DeliaTroph Pharmaceuticals, Inc. 2001 Amended agstdRed Stock Plan and form of Stock Option

10.8

Agreements for options assumed thereundk
Nonstatutory Stock Option Agreement With Andrew Kén

1C.9# 2004 Stock Plan and Form of Option Agreement theater(4)

1C.10¢ Halozyme Therapeutics, Inc. 2005 Outside Dire’ Stock Plan(8

1C.11#4 Form of Stock Option Agreement (2005 Outside Dimes’ Stock Plan)(12
1C.12#¢ Form of Restricted Stock Agreement (2005 Outside®ors Stock Plan)(12
1C.13# Halozyme Therapeutics, Inc. 2006 Stock Plan

1C.14% Form of Stock Option Agreement (2006 Stock Plan)

1C.15% Form of Restricted Stock Agreement (2006 Stock yPla)

1C.16% Halozyme Therapeutics, Inc. 2008 Stock Plan
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1C.17# Halozyme Therapeutics, Inc. 2008 Outside Dire’ Stock Plan(21

1C.18# Form of Indemnity Agreement for Directors and ExeaiOfficers(19)

1C.194 Outside Director Compensation Plan(.

1C.20#4 2007 Senior Executive Incentive Plan(.

1C.21#4 2008 Senior Executive Incentive Structure(

1C.22# 2009 Senior Executive Incentive Plan(.

1C.23% Change in Control Policy(2:

1C.24+ Severance Policy(2:

10.25* Amended and Restated Exclusive Distribution Agresrbetween Baxter Healthcare Corporation, B
Healthcare S.A. and Registrant, dated Februargd@7(15)

10.26* Amended and Restated Development and Supply Agredmedveen Baxter Healthcare Corporation,
Baxter Healthcare S.A. and Registrant, dated Feprid 2007(15

1C.27* License and Collaboration Agreement between Batteaithcare Corporation, Baxter Healthcare S.A.
and Registrant, dated February 14, 2007

1C.28* Enhanze Technology License and Collaboration Agesdrhetween Baxter Healthcare Corporation,
Baxter Healthcare S.A. and Registrant, dated Sdme, 2007(18

1C.29* License and Collaboration Agreement between F.Haffn-La Roche Ltd, Hoffmanba Roche Inc. an
Registrant dated December 5, 2006(

1C.30 Stock Purchase Agreement between New River Managevhe P and Registrant, dated April 23, 2007
(16)

1C.31 Sublease Agreement (11404 Sorrento Valley Roafictefe as of July 2, 2007(1

10.32 Sublease Agreement (11388 Sorrento Valley Roaf¢tefe as of July 2, 2007(1

1C0.33 Standard Industrial Net Lease (11388 Sorrento Yadfead), effective as of July 26, 2007(.

21.1  Subsidiaries of Registrant(1

23.1 Consent of Independent Registered Public Accouriing

31.1  Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuantRule 13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a) of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, as amenc

31.2  Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuat Rule 13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a) of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, as amenc

32 Certification of Chief Executive Officer and Chigihancial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. 1350, as
adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sart-Oxley Act of 200z

(1) Incorporated by reference to the Regisi's Current Report oForm ¢-K, filed November 20, 200°

(2) Incorporated by reference to the Registrant’s d@fsproxy statement filed with the SEC on FormmE1EBA
on October 11, 200°

(3) Incorporated by reference to the Registrant’s Reggisn Statement on Form SB-2 filed with the Cossion
on April 23, 2004

(4) Incorporated by reference to the Registrant’s ammemd number two to the Registration Statement on
Form SE-2 filed with the Commission on July 23, 20(

(5) Incorporated by reference to the Regist's Current Report oForm ¢-K, filed October 15, 200«

(6) Incorporated by reference to the Registrant’s Regfisn Statement on Form S-8 filed with the Conwiais on
October 26, 200

(7) Incorporated by reference to the Regist's Current Report oForm ¢-K, filed February 22, 200!

(8) Incorporated by reference to the Regisf's Current Report oForm ¢-K, filed July 6, 2005

(9) Incorporated by reference to the Regist's Current Report oForm ¢-K, filed January 12, 200!
(10) Incorporated by reference to the Regist's Annual Report oForm 1(-KSB/A, filed March 29, 2005
(11) Incorporated by reference to the Regist's Current Report oForm &K, filed March 24, 2006
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(12) Incorporated by reference to the Regist's Quarterly Report oForm 1(-Q, filed August 8, 200€
(13) Incorporated by reference to the Regist's Current Report oForm &K/A, filed December 15, 2001
(14) Incorporated by reference to the Regist's Current Report oForm &K, filed December 21, 200!
(15) Incorporated by reference to the Regist's Current Report oForm ¢-K/A, filed February 20, 200°
(16) Incorporated by reference to the Regist's Current Report oForm &K, filed April 24, 2007.

(17) Incorporated by reference to the Regist's Current Report oForm &K, filed July 31, 2007

(18) Incorporated by reference to the Regist's Current Report oForm &K, filed September 12, 200
(19) Incorporated by reference to the Regist's Current Report oForm &K, filed December 20, 200
(20) Incorporated by reference to the Regist's Annual Report oForm 1(-K, filed March 14, 2008
(21) Incorporated by reference to the Regist's Current Report oForm &K, filed March 19, 2008

(22) Incorporated by reference to the Regist's Current Report oForm &K, filed April 21, 2008.

(23) Incorporated by reference to the Regist's Quarterly Report oForm 1(-Q, filed May 9, 2008

(24) Incorporated by reference to the Regist's Quarterly Report oForm 1(-Q, filed November 7, 200¢
(25) Incorporated by reference to the Regist's Current Report oForm &K, filed February 9, 200¢

* Confidential treatment has been requested foriogptions of this exhibit. These portions havememitted
from this agreement and have been filed separaitighythe Securities and Exchange Commiss

# Indicates management contract or compensatorygslanrangemen

(c) Financial Statement Schedules. See Iltem 15(@)%2e.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities &xg@ Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly causedéeport
to be signed on its behalf by the undersignedénGiy of San Diego, on March 13, 2009.

Halozyme Therapeutics, Inc.,
a Delaware corporation

By: /s/ Jonathan E. Lim, M.L

Jonathan E. Lim, M.D.
President and Chief Executive Officer

Date: March 13, 2009

POWER OF ATTORNEY

Know all persons by these presents, that each perBose signature appears below constitutes anoirgpp
Jonathan E. Lim and David A. Ramsay, and eacheshtlas his true and lawful attorneys-in-fact anehnasg; with
full power of substitution and resubstitution, fom and in his name, place, and stead, in any hicdgacities, to
sign any and all amendments to this Annual Repod, to file the same, with all exhibits theretod ather
documents in connection therewith, with the Semgiand Exchange Commission, granting unto saduregys-in-
fact and agents, and each of them, full power aridlogity to do and perform each and every act ainytrequisite
and necessary to be done in connection therevgtfully to all intents and purposes as he mightarid do in
person, hereby ratifying and confirming that albsatorneys-in-fact and agents, or any of thertheir or his
substitute or substituted, may lawfully do or cattsbe done by virtue thereof.

Pursuant to the requirements of the SecuritiesoA&033, as amended, this Annual Report has begmediby
the following persons in the capacities and ondéies indicated.

Signature Title Date

/s/ Jonathan E. Lim, M.L President and Chief Executive Officer March 13, 200

Jonathan E. Lim, M.C

/s/ David A. Ramsa

David A. Ramsa

/sl Gregory I. Frost, Ph.I

Gregory |. Frost, Ph.C

/s/ Kenneth J. Kelle

Kenneth J. Kelle)

/sl Kathryn E. Falber

Kathryn E. Falber;

/s/ Randal J. Kirl

Randal J. Kirk

(Principal Executive Officer), Director

Secretary and Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)

Vice President and Chief Scientific Officer,
Director
Chairman of the Board of Directors

Director

Director
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Signature

/s/ Connie L. MatsL

Connie L. Matsu

/s/ John S. Patton, Ph.

John S. Patton, Ph.l

/s/ Steven T. Thornto

Steven T. Thornto

Title

Director

Director

Director
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March 13, 200
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accountingrirm

The Board of Directors and Stockholders
Halozyme Therapeutics, Inc.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balsineets of Halozyme Therapeutics, Inc. as of
December 31, 2008 and 2007, and the related cdasedl statements of operations, cash flows anétsidaers’
equity for each of the three years in the periatkenDecember 31, 2008. These financial statemeatha
responsibility of the Company’s management. Oupaasibility is to express an opinion on these fiah
statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with thedstals of the Public Company Accounting Oversighagio
(United States). Those standards require that e g@hd perform the audit to obtain reasonable assarabout
whether the financial statements are free of materisstatement. An audit includes examining, ¢esa basis,
evidence supporting the amounts and disclosurtrifinancial statements. An audit also includeessing the
accounting principles used and significant estimatade by management, as well as evaluating thalbfirancial
statement presentation. We believe that our apditgide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referredlbove present fairly, in all material respedis, ¢onsolidated
financial position of Halozyme Therapeutics, IncDacember 31, 2008 and 2007, and the consolidasedts of its
operations and its cash flows for each of the tlgezers in the period ended December 31, 2008, nfocmity with
U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.

We also have audited, in accordance with the stasd# the Public Company Accounting Oversight Boar
(United States), Halozyme Therapeutics, Inc.’srimecontrol over financial reporting as of Decem®g, 2008,
based on criteria established in Internal Controlntegrated Framework issued by the Committee ohSpring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission and opontedated March 11, 2009 expressed an unqualifpéoion
thereon.

/sl Ernst & Young LLP

San Diego, California
March 11, 2009
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HALOZYME THERAPEUTICS, INC.
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

ASSETS

Current asset:
Cash and cash equivalel
Accounts receivabl
Inventory
Prepaid expenses and other as

Total current asse
Property and equipment, r

Total Asset:

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS

Current liabilities:
Accounts payabl
Accrued expense
Deferred revenu

Total current liabilities
Deferred revenue, net of current port
Deferred rent, net of current porti
Commitments and contingencies (Note
Stockholder' equity:

December 31

Preferred stock — $0.001 par value; 20,000,000eshanthorized; no shares

issued and outstandit

Common stock — $0.001 par value; 150,000,000 startwrized; 81,553,654
and 77,903,944 shares issued and outstanding anider 31, 2008 and 200°

respectively
Additional paic-in capital
Accumulated defici
Total stockholder equity
Total Liabilities and Stockholde’ Equity

2008 2007
$ 6371590 $ 97,679,08
7,264,411 779,82
441,32 703,46t
2,591,14" 2,014,68!
74,012,78  101,177,05
2,549,92! 2,283,31
$ 76,562,71  $103,460,37

' EQUITY

$ 6,66879 $ 3,055,63
3,995,89 2,502,25!
3,553,73! 3,306,22!
14,218,41 8,864,12;
45,894,72 35,963,26
1,069,57: 865,06
81,55¢ 77,90«
128,948,06  122,685,44
(113,649,62)  (64,995,42)
15,379,99 57,767,92
$ 76,562,71 $103,460,37

See accompanying notes to consolidated financsgsients.
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HALOZYME THERAPEUTICS, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

Years Ended December 31

2008 2007 2006

REVENUES:

Revenues under collaboration agreem $ 8,052,200 $ 3,159,93 $ 311,12
Product sale 711,93 639,59( 670,62!
Total revenue 8,764,13! 3,799,52. 981,74¢
OPERATING EXPENSES

Cost of product sale 332,32: 240,42¢ 436,99(
Research and developmt 44,232,93 20,554,10 9,214,75!
Selling, general and administrati 14,633,58 11,155,19 6,912,85.
Total operating expens 59,198,84 31,949,72 16,564,60
OPERATING LOSS (50,434,70) (28,150,20) (15,582,85)
Interest incom 1,717,50: 4,254,02. 830,87(
NET LOSS BEFORE INCOME TAXE: (48,717,19) (23,896,18) (14,751,98)
Income tax benef (63,000 — —
NET LOSS $(48,654,19) $(23,896,18) $(14,751,98)
Basic and diluted net loss per sh $ (0.67) $ (0.32) $ (0.29
Shares used in computing basic and diluted netdesshar 79,843,70 74,317,93 62,610,26

See accompanying notes to consolidated financ#tsients.
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HALOZYME THERAPEUTICS, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

OPERATING ACTIVITIES:
Net loss

Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash (irseprovided by

operating activities

Share-based compensatic

Depreciation and amortizatic

Loss on disposal of equipme

Issuance of stock options for servit

Changes in operating assets and liabilit
Accounts receivabl
Inventory
Prepaid expenses and other as
Accounts payable and accrued expel
Deferred ren
Deferred revenu

Net cash (used in) provided by operating activi

INVESTING ACTIVITIES:
Purchases of property and equipm
Net cash used in investing activiti

FINANCING ACTIVITIES:

Proceeds from exercise of warrants,
Proceeds from exercise of stock options,
Proceeds from issuance of common stock

Net cash provided by financing activiti

NET (DECREASE) INCREASE IN CASH AND CAS

EQUIVALENTS

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS at beginning of peric
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS at end of peric

Supplemental disclosure of non-cash investing arahting

activities:

Accounts payable for purchases of property andpegent

Years Ended December 31

2008

2007

2006

$(48,654,19) $(23,896,18) $(14,751,98)

3,695,84: 2,580,20. 1,274,56
1,047,87 576,49: 243,99
4,72¢ 3,28¢ 4,27¢

— — 9,32z
(6,484,58) (416,26() 13,80:
262,14 (260,97¢) (163,53
(576,469  (1,416,59) (257,60:)
4,788,34 2,529,34: 979,31
363,48 865,06 —
10,178,96  19,287,95 _ 19,727,39
(35,373,86) (147,66  7,079,56:
(1,159,74) _ (2,365,32) (364,79
(1,159,74) _ (2,365,32) (364,79
1,726,71 2,305,84: 7,142,46!
843,71 1,707,33 156,11«

— 5198948  11,043,86
2,570,42  56,002,66  18,34244
(33,963,17)  53,489,68  25,057,20
97,679,08  44,189,40  19,132,19
$63,71590 $97,679,08 $ 44,189,40

$ 159,47.

See accompanying notes to consolidated financ#tsients.
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HALOZYME THERAPEUTICS, INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS'’ EQUITY
Years Ended December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006

Additional Total
Common Stock Paid-In Accumulated Stockholders’
Shares Amount Capital Deficit Equity

BALANCE AT JANUARY 1, 2006 60,246,99 $60,247 $ 44,493,89 $ (26,347,25) $ 18,206,88
Shar-based compensation expe! — — 1,274,56 — 1,274,56
Issuance of common stock for cash, 3,385,001 3,38t 11,040,47 — 11,043,86
Issuance of common stock pursuant to

exercise of warrants, n 4,818,841 4,81¢ 7,137,65I — 7,142,46!
Issuance of common stock pursuant t

exercise of stock optior 196,15( 19¢ 155,91¢ — 156,11«
Issuance of restricted stock awa 90,00( 90 (90 — —
Issuance of stock options to consultar

for services — — 9,322 — 9,322
Net loss — — — (14,751,98) (14,751,98)
BALANCE AT DECEMBER 31, 200t 68,736,99 68,731 64,111,73 (41,099,24) 23,081,23
Shar-based compensation expe! — — 2,580,20 — 2,580,20:
Issuance of common stock for cash, 5,570,39: 5,57( 51,983,91 — 51,989,48
Issuance of common stock pursuant to

exercise of warrants, n 1,783,85  1,78¢ 2,304,05! — 2,305,84.
Issuance of common stock pursuant t

exercise of stock optior 1,707,70! 1,70¢ 1,705,62! — 1,707,33
Issuance of restricted stock awa 105,00( 10t (10%) — —
Net loss — (23,896,18) (23,896,18)
BALANCE AT DECEMBER 31, 200" 77,903,94 77,90« 122,685,44 (64,995,42) 57,767,92
Shar-based compensation expel — — 3,695,84. — 3,695,84.
Issuance of common stock pursuant to

exercise of warrants, n 1,628,37.  1,62¢ 1,725,08! — 1,726,71.
Issuance of common stock pursuant t

exercise of stock optior 1,828,83 1,82¢ 841,88 — 843,71t
Issuance of restricted stock awa 192,50( 19z (199 — —
Net loss (48,654,19) (48,654,19)
BALANCE AT DECEMBER 31, 200¢  81,553,65 $81,55¢ $128,948,06 $(113,649,62) $ 15,379,99

See accompanying notes to consolidated financsisients.
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Halozyme Therapeutics, Inc.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

1. Organization and Business

Halozyme Therapeutics, Inc. (“Halozyme” or the “Qmamy”) is a biopharmaceutical company dedicateti¢o
development and commercialization of products timgehe extracellular matrix for the endocrinologycology,
dermatology and drug delivery markets. The Compaayisting products and products under developmawent
based on intellectual property covering the farofljhuman enzymes known as hyaluronidases.

The Company’s operations to date have been linbiteniganizing and staffing the Company, acquiring,
developing and securing its technology and undenggroduct development for its existing produatd a limited
number of product candidates. The Company'’s ketnpeships are with F. Hoffmann-La Roche, Ltd andffdann-
La Roche, Inc. (“Roche”), to apply Enharf#erechnology to Roche’biological therapeutic compounds for up t
targets and with Baxter Healthcare Corporation §tB#’), to apply Enhanze Technology to Baxter'slbgical
therapeutic compound, GAMMAGARD LIQUII . The Company has two marketed products: HYLENEX, a
registered trademark of Baxter International, lagroduct used as an adjuvant to increase themlmsoand
dispersion of other injected drugs and fluids, @uthulase® , a product used fan vitro fertilization, or IVF.
Currently, the Company has only limited revenuanithe sales of HYLENEX and Cumulase, in addition to
revenues from its partnerships with Baxter and Roch

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Basis of Presentation

The consolidated financial statements include twants of Halozyme Therapeutics, Inc. and its Whmlvnec
subsidiary, Halozyme, Inc. All intercompany accauand transactions have been eliminated.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of consolidated financial statesi@ntonformity with U.S. generally accepted acdmgn
principles (“U.S. GAAP”) requires management to malstimates and assumptions that affect the amoaepasted
in the Company’s consolidated financial statemantsaccompanying notes. On an ongoing basis, thep@ay
evaluates its estimates and judgments, which aedban historical and anticipated results and semdl on variou
other assumptions that management believes toasemable under the circumstances. By their nagstamates are
subject to an inherent degree of uncertainty asduah, actual results may differ from managemesstenates.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents consist of highly liguestments with original maturities of three mantir less
from the original purchase date.

The Company has restricted certificates of depeésitding $675,000 and $400,000 as of Decembe2@08
and 2007, respectively. These restricted depasitesent amounts pledged to the Company’s banéllasecal for
letters of credit issued in connection with certafithe Company’s real estate lease agreementararidcluded in
cash and cash equivalents. The lease agreemeiits expanuary 2013.

Concentrations

Financial instruments that potentially subjectas significant concentration of credit risk consiscash and
cash equivalents and accounts receivable. The Qompaintains its cash balances with one major corviale
bank. Deposits held with the bank exceed the amaflinsurance provided on such deposits.

The Company sells its products to establishedibigors in the pharmaceutical industry. Credibiteaded
based on an evaluation of the customer’s finartiatlition. Approximately 99% and 91% of the accsunt
receivable balance as of December 31, 2008 and, 28§7ectively, represents amounts due from twtous's.
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Halozyme Therapeutics, Inc.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements — (Comtiied)

Management evaluates the collectibility of the axts receivable based on a variety of factors gioly the length
of time the receivables are past due, the finamgalth of the customer and historical experieBesed upon the
review of these factors, the Company did not reear@llowance for doubtful accounts at Decembe2808 and
2007. For the years ended December 31, 2008, 2002@06, 51%, 36% and 55% of total revenues wera fr
Baxter and 44%, 50% and 10% were from Roche, réispéc

The Company relies on two third-party manufactuferghe supply of the active pharmaceutical inggetlin
each of its current products. Payments due to thegpliers represent 39% and 20% of the accountshbabalanc
at December 31, 2008 and 2007, respectively.

Accounts Receivable

Accounts receivable is recorded at the invoicedwarhand is non-interest bearing. Accounts recee bl
recorded net of an allowance for doubtful accou@itsrently, the allowance for doubtful accountgeso as the
collectibility of accounts receivable is reasonadbgured. The Company is obligated to accept reformproduct
that does not meet product specifications. Histdlsicthe Company has not had any product retuhesgfore, no
allowance for product returns has been established.

Inventory

Inventory is stated at lower of cost or market. tCaich includes amounts related to materials @uls
incurred by the Company’s contract manufacturedeiermined on a first-in, first-out basis. Inverde are
reviewed periodically for slownoving or obsolete status. Management evaluatesattnging value of inventories
a regular basis, taking into account such factensistorical and anticipated future sales comparegliantities on
hand, the price it expects to obtain for producttheir respective markets compared with historgest and the
remaining shelf life of goods on hand.

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment are recorded at cost. Eqripare depreciated using the strailyie-method over the
estimated useful lives of three years and leasehgidovements are amortized using the straight#iethod over
the estimated useful life of the asset or the |éase, whichever is shorter.

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets

The Company accounts for the impairment and disiposdf long-lived assets in accordance with Staenof
Financial Accounting Standards (“SFAS”) No. 144¢counting for the Impairment or Disposal of Loniged
Assets. In accordance with SFAS No. 144, long-lived asseé reviewed for events of changes in circumssnc
which indicate that their carrying value may notrbeeoverable. At December 31, 2008, there has been
impairment of the value of such assets.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments
The carrying value of cash equivalents, accourtsivable, accounts payable and accrued expenses
approximates fair value. Séair Value Measurementselow for further discussion of fair value.

Fair Value Measurements

Effective January 1, 2008, the Company adopted SIRASL57,Fair Value Measurementsand FSP
No. FAS 15-3, Determining the Fair Value of a Financial Asset \Wiilee Market for That Asset is Not Active.
SFAS No. 157 defines fair value, establishes admaark for measuring fair value under U.S. GAAP anttances
disclosures about fair value measurements. FSFFAS.157-3clarifies the application of SFAS No. 157 in a &
that is not active and provides an example totiliie key considerations in determining the falugaof a
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Halozyme Therapeutics, Inc.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements — (Comtiied)

financial asset when the market for that finanagdet is not active. The adoption of SFAS No. I&VFESP
No. FAS 15-3 did not have a material impact on the Compangissolidated financial position or results of
operations.

SFAS No. 157 prioritizes the inputs used in meagufair value into the following hierarchy:

Level 1 Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets fenital assets or liabilitie

Level 2 Inputs other than quoted prices included withindlelvthat are either directly or indirectly
observable; an

Level 3  Unobservable inputs in which little or no marketivty exists, therefore requiring an entity to
develop its own assumptions about the assumpti@atsrarket participants would use in prici

Cash and cash equivalents of approximately $63libmat December 31, 2008 are carried at fair gddased
on quoted market prices for identical securitiesv@l 1 inputs).

Effective January 1, 2008, the Company adopted SIHASL59,The Fair Value Option for Financial Assets
and Financial Liabilities. SFAS No. 159 allows an entity the irrevocableéapto elect to measure specified
financial assets and liabilities in their entiratyfair value on a contract-by-contract basisnleatity elects the fair
value option for an eligible item, changes in tteeni's fair value must be reported as unrealizedgyand losses in
earnings at each subsequent reporting date. IrtiaddpFAS No. 159, the Company did not elect thievialue
option for any of its financial assets or finandiabilities.

Revenue Recognition

The Company generates revenues from product satksadlaborative agreements. Payments receivedrunde
collaborative agreements may include nonrefundfgas at the inception of the agreements, licensg, feilestone
payments for specific achievements designatederctiiaborative agreements, reimbursements of relsead
development services and/or royalties on salesarfyzts resulting from collaborative agreements.

The Company recognizes revenues in accordanceSE@ Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 10Revenue
Recognitionand EITF Issue No. 00-2Revenue Arrangements with Multiple Deliverablé®e Company
recognizes revenue when all of the following ci#tere met: (1) persuasive evidence of an arrangeexésts;

(2) delivery has occurred or services have beederea; (3) the seller’s price to the buyer is fixed determinable;
and (4) collectibility is reasonably assured.

Product Sales— Revenues from the sales of Cumulase are recedmihen the transfer of ownership occurs,
which is upon shipment to the distributors. The @any is obligated to accept returns for product ttoes not me:
product specifications. Historically, the Compamsimot had any product returns as a result of eetimg product
specifications.

In accordance with the Amended and Restated Dewedapand Supply Agreement (the “HYLENEX
Partnership”) with Baxter, the Company suppliestBawith the active pharmaceutical ingredient (“ARor
HYLENEX at its fully burdened cost plus a margirex@er fills and finishes HYLENEX and holds it fantssequent
distribution, at which time the Company ensuraséets product specifications and releases it atablafor sale.
Because of the Company’s continued involvemenhéndevelopment and production process of HYLENBX, t
earnings process is not considered to be comp@etardingly, the Company defers the revenue aratedlproduct
costs on the API for HYLENEX until the product i8efd, finished, packaged and released. Baxter amdy return
the API for HYLENEX to the Company if it does natrdorm to the specified criteria set forth in th¥ IHENEX
Partnership or upon termination of such agreenidr@.Company has historically demonstrated thaffPeshippec
to Baxter has consistently met the specified datérherefore, no allowance for product returns tgen
established. In addition, the Company receivesymbbased payments upon the sale of HYLENEX by &zt
accordance with the terms of the HYLENEX PartngrsRroduct sales revenues are recognized as the
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Halozyme Therapeutics, Inc.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements — (Comtiied)

Company earns such revenues based on Baxter's shiprof HYLENEX to its distributors when such amtsucan
be reasonably estimated.

Collaborative Agreements— The Company analyzes each element of its collaiveragreements to determi
the appropriate revenue recognition. The Compaoygiizes revenue on nonrefundable upfront paynserds
license fees in which it has an ongoing involver@rerformance obligation over the period of digant
involvement under the related agreements. The Coynpcognizes milestone payments upon the achievieofie
specified milestones if (1) the milestone is sultbta in nature and the achievement of the milestoas not
reasonably assured at the inception of the agregif®rhe fees are nonrefundable and (3) our pexdnce
obligations after the milestone achievement wilitimue to be funded by our collaborator at a legghparable to
the level before the milestone achievement. Angstine payments received prior to satisfying thegenue
recognition criteria are recorded as deferred regeReimbursements of research and developmeritsgmare
recognized as revenue during the period in whiehstitvices are performed. Royalties to be recdyaseéd on sales
of licensed products by the Company’s collaboraitweerporating the Company’s products will be ratiagd as
earned.

Cost of Sales

Cost of product sales consists primarily of rawemnats, third-party manufacturing costs, fill amdigh costs
and freight costs associated with the sales of Casayand the API for HYLENEX.

Research and Development Expenses

Effective January 1, 2008, the Company adopted gimgissues Task Force (“EITF”) Issue
No. 0%-3, Accounting for Nonrefundable Advance Payments faodS or Services Received for Use in Future
Research and Development Activil. EITF Issue No. 07-3 requires that nonrefundabiieaace payments for goods
or services that will be used or rendered for fi@search and development activities be defemddapitalized.
Such amounts should be recognized as an expetise adated goods are delivered or the relatedcEnare
performed or such time when the entity does noeeixthe goods to be delivered or services to bimpaed. The
adoption of EITF Issue No. 07-3 did not have a mi@ténpact on the Company’s consolidated finanpiasition or
results of operations.

Research and development expenses include saaddsenefits, facilities and other overhead expgnse
external clinical trials, research-related manufant services, contract services and other outsigeenses.
Research and development expenses are chargedraiiops as incurred when these expenditures reldhe
Company'’s research and development efforts and haadternative future uses.

Advance payments, including nonrefundable amodiatgjoods or services that will be used or rendéoed
future research and development activities arergfeand capitalized. Such amounts will be reccgphizs an
expense as the related goods are delivered oeldted services are performed. If the goods willbedelivered, or
services will not be rendered, then the capitalaédance payment is charged to expense.

Milestone payments that the Company makes in cdimmewith in-licensed technology or product candéa
are expensed as incurred when there is uncertaimgceiving future economic benefits from the fised
technology or product candidates. The Company densithe future economic benefits from the licertsetinolog'
or product candidates to be uncertain until sutgnised technology or product candidates are apgfove
marketing by the FDA or when other significant riaktors are abated. For expense accounting puspose
management has viewed future economic benefitalfaf our licensed technology or product candidatebe
uncertain.
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Halozyme Therapeutics, Inc.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements — (Comtiied)

Clinical Trial Expenses

Expenses related to clinical trials are accrue@dthasm the Company’s estimates and/or represensafiiom
service providers regarding work performed, inahgdactual level of patient enroliment, completidrpatient
studies and clinical trials progress. Other inctdeoosts related to patient enroliment or treatnae@ accrued when
reasonably certain. If the contracted amounts areified (for instance, as a result of changes endimical trial
protocol or scope of work to be performed), the @any modifies its accruals accordingly on a prospedasis.
Revisions in the scope of a contract are chargedpense in the period in which the facts that gise to the
revision become reasonably certain. Historicalig, Company has had no material changes in itsalitiial
expense accruals that would have had a materiagdhgn its consolidated results of operationsrarftial position

Share-Based Payments

The Company accounts for share-based awards exethdogemployee services in accordance with
SFAS No. 123(R)Share-Based Paymentnder SFAS No. 123R, shabased compensation expense is measu
the grant date, based on the estimated fair vdltteecaaward, and is recognized as expense, netiofized
forfeitures, over the employee’s requisite seryiegod and/or performance period.

Share-based compensation expense recognized dine@mgriod is based on the value of the portion of
share-based payment awards that is ultimately ¢egeo vest during the period. Share awards aretearad under
the straight-line method. Share-based compensaxpense for an award with a performance condigon i
recognized when the achievement of such performeoiedition is determined to be probable. If thecoute of
such performance condition is not determined tpriobable or is not met, no compensation expenseagnized
and any recognized compensation expense is revekseshare-based compensation expense recognibades on
awards ultimately expected to vest, it has beenaed for estimated forfeitures. SFAS No. 123R nexgiorfeitures
to be estimated at the time of grant and revidatkdessary, in subsequent periods if actual fionfes differ from
those estimates. Pre-vesting forfeitures were estidhto be approximately 10% for employees in ey ended
December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006 based on the Gursgastorical experience and those of its peeugr

Total share-based compensation expense relatédte-based awards, recognized under SFAS No. 28R,
the years ended December 31, 2008, 2007 and 20068amaprised of the following:

Years Ended December 31

2008 2007 2006
Research and developm $1,541,00. $ 662,69( $ 424,30!
Selling, general and administrati 2,154,83! 1,917,51. 850,26:
Shar-based compensation expense before t 3,695,84. 2,580,20: 1,274,56
Related income tax benef — — —
Shar-based compensation expel $3,695,84. $2,580,20- $1,274,56
Net shar-based compensation expense, per basic and diliéed $ 0.0t $ 0.0: $ 0.0z
Shar-based compensation expense fr
Stock option: $2,691,57. $1,857,24' $1,136,53I
Restricted stock awart 1,004,27. 722,95! 138,03

$3,695,84. $2,580,20- $1,274,56
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements — (Comtiied)

SFAS No. 123R requires that cash flows resultiognftax deductions in excess of the cumulative corsgigor
cost recognized for options exercised (excesseaefits) be classified as cash inflows providedibgncing
activities and cash outflows used in operatingvitis. Due to the Comparg/het loss position, no tax benefits h.
been recognized in the consolidated statementasif ffows.

The Company accounts for stock options grantedimemployees in accordance with EITF Issue
No. 9€-18, Accounting for Equity Instruments That Are Issue®ther Than Employees for Acquiring, or in
Conjunction with Selling, Goods or Servicdsnder EITF Issue No. 96-181e Company determines the fair valu
the stock options granted as either the fair vafube consideration received or the fair valu¢hef equity
instruments issued, whichever is more reliably mestsie. The Company recognized approximately $&GriD
$9,000 in stock-based compensation expense retattdck options granted to non-employees for #wry ended
December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006, respectively.

Income Taxes

Income taxes are recorded in accordance with SFASLOD, Accounting for Income Taxes, which requttes
recognition of deferred tax assets and liabiliteeseflect the future tax consequences of evetishthve been
recognized in the Company’s consolidated finanstialements or tax returns. Measurement of the meféems is
based on enacted tax laws. In the event the femeequences of differences between financial tiegobases and
tax bases of the Company’s assets and liabiliéisslt in a deferred tax asset, SFAS No. 109 regjaineevaluation
of the probability of being able to realize theuiut benefits indicated by such assets. The Companoyds a
valuation allowance to reduce the deferred taxtaseghe amount that is more likely than not tadsdized.
Management has considered future taxable incom@agading tax planning strategies in assessing ¢leel fior the
valuation allowance. In the event the Company weidetermine that it would be able to realize théeded tax
assets in the future in excess of their net reabatheounts, an adjustment to the deferred tax aasetil increase
the income in the period such determination wasanhitewise, should the Company determine thabitil not be
able to realize all or part of the net deferreddasets in the future, an adjustment to the def¢aneassets would be
charged to income in the period such determinatias made.

Effective January 1, 2007, the Company adoptegtbeisions of FASB Interpretation (“FIN”) No. 48,
Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Ta>— An Interpretation of FASB Statement No. 10@der FIN No. 48,
the impact of an uncertain income tax positionlaniticome tax return must be recognized at thesimgmount th:
is more-likely-than-not to be sustained upon ahgithe relevant taxing authority. An uncertain immtax position
will not be recognized if it has less than a 50Rélihood of being sustained. Additionally, FIN Nt8 also provides
guidance on derecognition, measurement, classditanterest and penalties, accounting in intgueniods,
disclosure and transition. The adoption of FIN M®.had no impact on the Company’s consolidatechfiizd
position or results of operations. At the dateddation and at December 31, 2008 and 2007, the @oy'p
unrecognized income tax benefits and uncertaiptaxisions were not material.

Net Loss Per Share

The Company calculates basic and diluted net lesg@mmon share in accordance with SFAS No. 128,
Earnings Per Shar, and SEC Staff Accounting Bulletin (“SAB”) No. 9Basic net loss per common share is
computed by dividing net loss for the period by wWeghted average number of common shares outsiguaidiring
the period, without consideration for common stegkiivalents. Stock options, unvested stock awandsaarrants
are considered to be common equivalents and ayaermilided in the calculation of diluted earnings pommon
share when their effect is dilutive. Because of@oapany’s net loss, all outstanding stock optiomvested stock
awards and warrants were excluded from the calonlathe Company has excluded the following stgokams,

F-11




Table of Contents

Halozyme Therapeutics, Inc.
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unvested stock awards and warrants from the cdionlaf diluted net loss per common share as ofelbdwer 31,
2008, 2007 and 2006 because their effect is alutirgk:

2008 2007 2006
Stock options and awari 7,447,28! 7,914,97! 8,727,32;
Warrants 3,230,65! 4,859,03! 6,714,40:

10,677,94 12,774,00  15,441,72

Segment Information

The Company operates in one segment, which isstearch, development and commercialization of prtsdu
based on the extracellular matrix for the endodoigp, oncology, dermatology and drug delivery mék&he chief
operating decision-makers review the operatingltesm an aggregate basis and manage the operasamsingle
operating segment.

Pending Adoption of Recent Accounting Pronouncemsgnt

In December 2007, the FASB ratified EITF Issue 8l6:01,Accounting for Collaboration Arrangements
which is focused on how the parties to a collabeeaagreement should account for costs incurredranenue
generated on sales to third parties, how shariggnpats pursuant to a collaboration agreement shmloresented
in the statement of operations and certain reldistiosure questions. EITF No. 07-01 is effectivethe Company
in the first quarter of 2009. The Company doesaxpect the adoption of EITF No. 07-01 to have aemaltimpact
on its consolidated financial position or result®perations.

In December 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 14Ji9eev2007)Business CombinatiorsSFAS 141(R)").
SFAS 141(R) establishes principles and requirenmfentsow an acquirer recognizes and measures finédscial
statements the identifiable assets acquired, éitidities assumed, any noncontrolling interesthie acquiree and the
goodwill acquired in connection with business camalibns. SFAS 141(R) also establishes disclosupeinements
to enable the evaluation of the nature and findrdfacts of the business combination. SFAS 141¢Rffective for
fiscal years beginning on or after December 15820lie Company does not expect the adoption of SEA$R) to
have a material effect on its consolidated findnmadition and results of operations.

In May 2008, the FASB issued SFAS No. 18&rarchy of Generally Accepted Accounting Prinegl This
statement is intended to improve financial repgrtiy identifying a consistent framework, or hietgrcfor selecting
accounting principles to be used in preparing fai@rstatements of nongovernmental entities thapaesented in
conformity with GAAP. This statement will be effaet 60 days following the SEC’s approval of the Rub
Company Accounting Oversight Board amendment toSedtion 411The Meaning of Present Fairly in Conform
with Generally Accepted Accounting Principléehe Company does not expect the adoption of SRASL62 to
have a material impact on its consolidated findrmiaition or results of operations.

In June 2008, the FASB issued FSP No. EITF 03Betermining Whether Instruments Granted in Share-
Based Payment Transactions Are Participating Séies.. FSP No. EITF 03-6-1 clarified that all outstarglin
unvested share-based payment awards that corghiis to nonforfeitable dividends participate in istributed
earnings with common shareholders. Awards of thisine are considered participating securities hadwo-class
method of computing basic and diluted earningsshare must be applied. FSP No. EITF 03-6-1 is g¥fedor the
Company in the first quarter of 2009. The Compaogsinot expect the adoption of FSP EITF 03-6-latela
material impact on its consolidated financial positor results of operations.

In June 2008, the FASB ratified EITF Issue No. QD&termining Whether an Instrument (or an Embedded
Feature) Is Indexed to an En's Own Stock EITF Issue No. 07-5 provides that an entity staide a two step
approach to evaluate whether an eqliitiked financial instrument (or embedded featusahdexed to its own stoc
including evaluating the instrument’s contingenéieise and settlement provisions. It also clarifies
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impact of foreign currency denominated strike giaad market-based employee stock option valuaigiruments
on the evaluation. EITF Issue No. 07-5 is effecfivethe Company in the first quarter of 2009. Tmmpany does
not expect the adoption of EITF Issue No. 07-5aweha material impact on its consolidated finangtalition or
results of operations.

3. Inventory

Inventory consists of the following as of DecemB&r 2008 and 2007:

2008 2007
Raw material $435,38¢ $578,39°
Finished good 5,937 78,677
Work in proces: — 46,39«

$441,320  $703,46!

Inventory is used in the manufacture of the Com{shyLENEX and Cumulase products and is statedat t
lower of cost or market.

4. Property and Equipment
Property and equipment consists of the followingfBecember 31, 2008 and 2007:

2008 2007
Research equipme $2,699,700  $1,892,65!
Computer and office equipme 1,079,03. 789,85:.
Leasehold improvemen 814,06 633,99¢
4,592,80 3,316,50!
Accumulated depreciation and amortizat (2,042,88) (1,033,18)

$ 2,549,920  $2,283,31

Depreciation and amortization expense was apprdeign&l1.0 million, $576,000 and $244,000, for tleass
ended December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006, respsactivel

5. Accrued Expenses

Accrued expenses consist of the following as ofdbaner 31, 2008 and 2007:

2008 2007
Accrued compensation and payroll ta $2,060,86!  $1,418,31
Accrued outsourced research and clinical trial egpe 1,329,95. 424,38t
Accrued expense 605,07" 659,56:

$3,995,89°  $2,502,25!
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6. Deferred Revenue

Deferred revenue consists of the following as ofé&maber 31, 2008 and 2007:

2008 2007
Collaborative agreemen $49,273,30  $39,079,52
Product sale 175,15( 189,96
Total deferred revent 49,448,45 39,269,49
Less current portio 3,553,733l 3,306,22!
Deferred revenue, net of current port $45,894,72  $35,963,26

Roche Partnership— In December 2006, the Company and Roche enietea license and collaborative
agreement for Enhanze Technology (the “Roche Patip¥). Under the terms of the Roche PartnerdRigrhe
obtained a worldwide, exclusive license to develnd commercialize product combinations of rHUPHES,
Companys proprietary recombinant human hyaluronidase,ugnib thirteen Roche target compounds resultingn
the collaboration. Roche paid $20.0 million to @@mpany in December 2006 as an initial upfront paytfior the
application of rHUPHZ20 to three pdefined Roche biologic targets. In December 2008 Gompany was entitled
receive an aggregate of approximately $9.3 milfram Roche in connection with Roche’s election dbarth
exclusive target and annual designation maintenBeesefor the remaining nine Roche targets.

Due to the Company’s continuing involvement obligias, revenues from the upfront payment, exclusive
designation fees and annual designation mainterfeesavere deferred and are being recognized begetm of
the Roche Partnership. The Company recognized vevieam the upfront payment, exclusive designatéms and
annual maintenance designation fees under the Reatirership in the amounts of approximately $2ilkam,
$1.2 million and $81,000 for the years ended Decearlh, 2008, 2007 and 2006, respectively.

Baxter Partnerships— In September 2007, the Company and Baxter ethiate an Enhanze Technology
License and Collaboration Agreement (the “Gammag@andnership”). Under the terms of the Gammagard
Partnership, Baxter paid the Company a nonrefuedagront payment of $10.0 million. Due to the Cemg's
continuing involvement obligations, the $10.0 noifliupfront payment was deferred and is being rezedrover th
term of the Gammagard Partnership. The Companyrezed revenue from the upfront payment under the
Gammagard Partnership in the amounts of approxlyn&696,000 and $192,000 for the years ended Deeefih
2008 and 2007, respectively.

In February 2007, the Company and Baxter amendediicexisting agreements for HYLENEX and entered
into a new agreement for kits and formulations witluPH20 (the “HYLENEX Partnership”). Under thertes of
the HYLENEX Partnership, Baxter paid the Compamparefundable upfront payment of $10.0 million. Da¢he
Company’s continuing involvement obligations, tH®$ million upfront payment was deferred and imte
recognized over the term of the HYLENEX Partnershipe Company recognized revenue from the upfragben
under the HYLENEX Partnership in the amounts ofrapjpnately $586,000 and $516,000 for the years énde
December 31, 2008 and 2007, respectively.

In addition, Baxter will make payments to the Compbased on sales of the products covered under the
HYLENEX Partnership. Through December 31, 2008,tBagrepaid a total of $4.5 million of such prodbesed
payments in connection with the execution of theLHXEX Partnership. In January 2009, Baxter prejgaidther
$5.5 million of such product-based payments. Ttepaid product-based payments are deferred andcarg b
recognized as product sales revenues as the Comspany such revenues from the sales of HYLENEX axté&.

7. Stockholders Equity

Issuance of Common Stoek During 2008, the Company issued an aggregade6dP,710 shares of common
stock in connection with the exercises of stockchase warrants (1,628,374 shares at a weightedge/erice of
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$1.06 per share), stock options (1,828,836 shar@svaighted average price of $0.55 per shareyestdcted stock
awards (192,500 shares at a price of $0.001 pee)sfaa cash in the aggregate amount of approxilpate
$2.6 million.

In April 2007, the Company entered into a defirgtatock purchase agreement (the “Purchase Agre&ment
with New River Management V, LP (“New River”). Unde terms of the Purchase Agreement, New River
purchased 3,500,000 newly-issued shares of the @wy'gpcommon stock for an aggregate price of apprately
$32.1 million. The sale of the shares was complatéday 2007. The Company has agreed to file asteggion
statement upon demand with the SEC covering tteeed these shares.

In February 2007, an affiliate of Baxter purcha2di¥ 0,394 shares of the Company’s common stocérfor
aggregate price of approximately $20.0 million.

In December 2006, the Company issued and sold sxemedited investor, an affiliate of Roche (the
“Purchaser”), 3,385,000 shares (the “Shares”) efGompany’s common stock at a price of $3.27 paresHor
gross proceeds of approximately $11.1 million. Bhares were sold pursuant to exemptions from regjish under
Regulation D of the Securities Act. In December@@fie Company also entered into a registratidmtsiggreemet
(the “Rights Agreement”) with the Purchaser, unghich the Company may be required to register ther&s upon
the occurrence of certain events set forth in tighfR Agreement. Such triggering events includé aoe not limitec
to, the registration of shares pursuant to a negiseh statement not currently in effect. The RggAgreement will
terminate at such time as the Purchaser may se$hiares in any three-month period pursuant tprihnésions of
Rule 144 under the Securities Act of 1933, as améndls of December 31, 2008, the Company had teat &
registration statement with the SEC covering tlsaleof the Shares.

During 2007, the Company issued an aggregate 86357 shares of common stock in connection wigh th
exercises of stock purchase warrants (1,783,852sla a weighted average price of $1.29 per shetagk options
(1,707,705 shares at a weighted average price.00%ter share) and restricted stock awards (10508fks at a
price of $0) for cash in the aggregate amount pf@admately $4.0 million.

During 2006, the Company issued an aggregate 08396 shares of common stock in connection wih th
exercises of stock purchase warrants (4,818,84@sl@ a weighted average price of $1.48 per shstmmk options
(196,150 shares at a weighted average price oD§eBshare) and restricted stock awards (90,08fstat a price
of $0) for cash in the aggregate amount of appratety $7.3 million.

Issuance of Common Stock Options for Servieetn 2006, an option to purchase 13,332 shardiseof
Company’s common stock was issued to a consultargefvices received and the stock option was dadme
approximately $9,000. These options were fully eisable and fully vested on the date of grant dvadl £xpire in
ten years based on the terms of the options. Tihedtue of these options was recorded as a norstask expense.

Warrants — In connection with the October 2004 private plaent, the Company issued warrants to purchase
2,709,542 shares of common stock at an exercise pfi$2.25 per share. These warrants are exeleigatl
October 12, 2009. As of December 31, 2008 and 20@2,7,715 and 2,030,572, respectively, of theseants wer
outstanding.

In connection with the January 2004 private placgitbe Company issued warrants (the “Callable ardg")
to purchase 8,094,829 shares of common stock exentise price of $1.75 per share, as amendedeMa@sants
are exercisable until January 28, 2009 and araldalby the Company under certain conditions. |ndbeber 2004,
the Company called the first tranche of the Calalarrants and holders of the Callable Warrantsoesed
warrants to purchase 1,571,682 shares of commohk atdb1.75 per share, or approximately $2.7 nmiliionet
proceeds. In August 2006, the Company called thergktranche of the Callable Warrants and holdetiseo
Callable Warrants exercised warrants to purcha&@?2188 shares of common stock at $1.75 per sbare,
approximately $3.9 million in net proceeds. As ad@mber 31, 2008 and 2007, 1,302,941 and 1,634,143,
respectively, of the Callable Warrants were outditagn In January 2009, holders of the Callable \Mats exercised
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warrants to purchase 1,264,866 shares of the constogk for an aggregate of $2.2 million in proceéds
remaining Callable Warrants to purchase 38,075eshar common stock expired on January 28, 2009.

In October 2003, in conjunction with the issuantéhe Company’s Series C Convertible Preferred ISttt
“Series C"), the Company granted warrants to pwselya367,114 shares of common stock to purchas#éns o
Series C at an exercise price of $0.7667 per sfiiese warrants expired on October 15, 2008. A3easkember 31,
2008 and 2007, 0 and 1,194,315, respectively,afdtwarrants were outstanding.

8. Equity Incentive Plans

The Company currently has six equity incentive pléhe “Plans”): the 2008 Stock Plan, the 2008 {dats
Directors’ Stock Plan, the 2006 Stock Plan, the5200itside Directors’ Stock Plan, the 2004 StockRlad the
2001 Stock Plan. All of the Plans were approvedhigystockholders. In May 2008, the Company’s stotddrs
approved the Company’s 2008 Stock Plan, which ples/for the grant of up to a total of 5,000,000 st af
common stock (subject to certain limitations ascdbsd in the 2008 Stock Plan) to selected empleyegnsultants
and non-employee members of the Company’s BoaRirettors (“Outside Directors”) as stock optionsck
appreciation rights, restricted stock awards, igstl stock unit awards and performance award ilsviay 2008,
the Company'’s stockholders approved the Compar§08 Dutside DirectorsStock Plan, which provides for gra
of restricted stock awards up to a total of 600,888res of common stock to the Company’s Outsidedirs.

During the year ended December 31, 2008, the Coyngiaamted share-based awards under the 2008 Stock
Plan, the 2006 Stock Plan and the 2005 Outsidecioirg Stock Plan. The Company had an aggregate of
18,225,000 shares of common stock reserved foamsias of December 31, 2008. Of those shares,

7,254,785 shares were subject to outstanding aptiad 5,413,554 shares were available for futuaetgrof share-
based awards. At the present time, managementmterissue new common shares upon the exercistoak
options and restricted stock awards.

Stock Options. Options are subject to terms and conditions éstaddl by the Compensation Committee of the
Company'’s Board of Directors. Options have a teftten years and generally vest at the rate of 2B&y@ar from
the grant date and monthly thereafter until théamstare fully vested over four years. Certainaptwards provid
for accelerated vesting if there is a change irtrobas defined in the Plans).
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A summary of the Company’s stock option award égtias of and for the years ended December 31,,2008
2007 and 2006 is as follows:

Shares Weighted Weighted Aggregate
Underlying Average Exercisi Average Remaining Intrinsic
Stock Options Price per Share Contractual Term (yrs) Value
Outstanding at January 1, 20 8,535,75. $ 1.01
Granted 577,68. $ 2.6¢4
Exercisec (196,150 $ 0.8C
Cancelled/forfeitet (279,96) $ 1.2C
Outstanding at December 31, 2( 8,637,32. $ 1.12
Granted 1,029,88 % 8.0¢
Exercisec (1,732,56) $ 1.11
Cancelled/forfeitet (124,65) ¢ 1.81
Outstanding at December 31, 2( 7,809,970 % 2.0¢
Grantec 1,513,650 $ 5.7¢
Exercisec (1,857,47) $ 0.5t
Cancelled/forfeitet (211,360 $ 7.6
Outstanding at December 31, 2( 7,254,78 $ 3.02 6.5 $21.5 millior
Vested and expected to vest at
December 31, 200 6,969,10. $ 2.9C 6.4 $21.4 millior
Exercisable at December 31, 2( 5,043,24. § 1.8(C 5.5 $20.2 millior

The weighted average graai&te fair values of options granted during the yesided December 31, 2008, 2
and 2006 were $3.39 per share, $4.94 per shar$labd per share, respectively. As of December 3282
approximately $6.1 million of total unrecognizedggensation costs related to non-vested stock opti@rds is
expected to be recognized over a weighted averagedpof approximately 2.8 years. The intrinsicueabf options
exercised during the years ended December 31, 2008, and 2006 was approximately $9.9 million, $18illion
and $342,000, respectively. Cash received fromkstption exercises for the years ended Decembe2(B13, 2007
and 2006 was approximately $844,000, $1.7 milliod $156,000, respectively.

The fair value of each option award is estimatedhendate of grant using a Black-Scholes-Mertomoopt
pricing model (“Black-Scholes model”) that uses dssumptions noted in the following table. Expectelatility is
based on historical volatility of the Company’s aoon stock and its peer group. The expected teraptibns
granted is based on analyses of historical empltgraeination rates and option exercises. The rigk-interest rate
is based on the U.S. Treasury yield for a periatsistent with the expected term of the option fefat the time ¢
the grant. The dividend yield assumption is basethe expectation of no future dividend paymentshigy
Company. Assumptions used in the Black-Scholes ineeee as follows:

Years Ended December 31

2008 2007 2006
Expected volatility 65.(% 70.(% 75.(%
Average expected term (in yea 5.5 5.C 4.C
Risk-free interest rat 1.2€-3.14% 3.5-4.7% 4.€-5.1%
Expected dividend yiel 0% 0% 0%
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The following table summarizes information for datgling and exercisable options as of Decembe2®18:

Options Outstanding Options Exercisable
Weighted Average = Weighted Weighted
Remaining Average Number Average
Number Contractual Exercise Vested and Exercise

Exercise Price Outstanding Life in Years Price Exercisable Price
$0.06- $ 0.39 2,499,022 48 $ 03¢ 249902 $ 0.3¢
$0.40- $ 2.05 1,608,08!I 54 $ 19t 1540690 $ 1.9/
$2.06- $ 5.60 1,872,08: 8C $ 4.2 630,58: $ 3.1¢€
$5.61- $10.37 1,275,59I 8.8 $ 7.7¢ 372,94( $ 8.4C
7,254,78! 6. $ 3.0z 5,04324 $ 1.8C

Restricted stock awardsRestricted stock awards are grants that entidehblder to acquire shares of restric
common stock at a fixed price, which is typicallyminal. The shares of restricted stock cannot b ptedged, or
otherwise disposed of until the award vests andummwested shares may be reacquired by the Comparlyef
original purchase price following the awardee’srigration of service. Annual grants of restricteacktunder the
Outside Directors’ Stock Plans typically vest ifi fhe first day the awardee may trade the Compmaaidck in
compliance with the Company’s insider trading ppficllowing the date immediately preceding thetfaanual
meeting of stockholders following the grant date.

In May 2008, the Company granted certain emplog&es00 performance-based restricted stock awards
(“Performance Awards”), for a purchase price ofd8Q per share, under the 2008 Stock Plan. The fPeafxe
Awards will become fully vested only if certain ddepment performance milestone criteria are suagss
achieved before October 1, 2009 (“Performance Golhlthe Performance Goal is not met, the Performakwards
will be terminated and the Company will automaticatacquire the unvested shares for the originatipase price.
The Company recognized $201,000 of share-basedammsapion expense related to the Performance Avaantisg
the year ended December 31, 2008 as managemestdsetichievement of the Performance Goal is prelsbl
December 31, 2008.

During the years ended December 31, 2008, 2002606, the Company issued 192,500, 105,000 and @0,00
restricted stock awards, respectively, under tt@828tock Plan and 2005 Outside Directors’ Stock Plhe
following table summarizes the Company’s unvesestiricted stock activity during the years endeddbdmer 31,
2008, 2007 and 2006:

Weighted Average

Number of Grant Date

Shares Fair Value
Unvested at January 1, 20 — 3 —
Granted 90,00 $ 2.72
Vested — 3 —
Forfeited — 3 —
Unvested at December 31, 2C 90,00 $ 2.72
Granted 105,000 $ 10.37
Vested (90,000 $ 2.72
Forfeited — 3 —
Unvested at December 31, 2C 105,000 $ 10.37
Granted 192,50 $ 4.94
Vested (105,000 $ 10.37
Forfeited — 3 —
Unvested at December 31, 2C 192,500 $ 4.94
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The total grant-date fair value of restricted staekards vested during the years ended Decemb&088,and
2007 was $1.1 million and $245,000, respectively ohDecember 31, 2008, total unrecognized compiemseost
related to unvested shares was $420,000, whickpisoted to be recognized over a weighted-averagedoef
6.5 months.

9. Commitments and Contingencie:

Operating Leases— The Company’s administrative offices and rededacilities are located in San Diego,
California. The Company leases an aggregate obappately 51,500 square feet of office and reseapzte.

In July 2007, the Company entered into a sublegsseaent with Avanir Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (“Avénior
Avanir's excess leased facilities located at 11388&ento Valley Road, San Diego, California (th&3&8
Sublease”) for 27,575 square feet of office anéaesh space. The 11388 Sublease expired in Augost 2s a
result, in July 2007, the Company entered intcaadeagreement (the “Lease”) with BC Sorrento, LB
Sorrento”) for these facilities through January 20Rayment obligations under the Lease commencgdptember
2008 after the obligations in the short-term 11388lease had concluded. Under the terms of theel #aes initial
monthly rent payment was approximately $37,0000hebsts and property taxes associated with theatipa and
maintenance of the leased facilities, commencingaptember 2008 and will increase to approxim&#&3,000
starting in March 2009. Thereafter, the annual baseis subject to approximately 4% annual inogsasach year
throughout the term of the Lease. Under terms®lLibase and 11388 Sublease, the Company receivedbtbamance
for the cost of tenant improvements totaling apprately $276,000 and received free rent totalingrapimately
$794,000, of which approximately $870,000 and $828 was included in deferred rent as of Decembge23028
and 2007, respectively. The difference betweerattieal amount paid and the amount recorded asxpanse in
each fiscal year has been recorded as an adjustmédeterred rent.

In July 2007, the Company also entered into a sglel@agreement with Avanir for Avanir's excess ldase
facilities located at 11404 Sorrento Valley Roaaln ®iego, California (the “11404 Sublease”) forlB4 square
feet of office and research space for a monthly pagment of approximately $54,000, net of costs pioperty
taxes associated with the operation and maintenainte subleased facilities. The 11404 Subleap@exin
January 2013. The annual base rent is subjectpim=imately 4% annual increases each year througheuerms
of the 11404 Sublease. In addition, the Compangived free rent totaling approximately $492,000wbfch
approximately $418,000 and $299,000 was includateferred rent as of December 31, 2008 and 2007,
respectively. The difference between the actualiarpaid and the amount recorded as rent experesscimfiscal
year has been recorded as an adjustment to defemedrhe Company pays a pro rata share of opgratists
insurance costs, costs of utilities and real prigptaxes incurred by Avanir for the subleased fed.

Subsequent to December 31, 2008, the Company dritecea sub-sublease agreement with Sirion
Therapeutics, Inc. (“Sirion”), a subtenant of Avarfdr Sirion’s excess subleased facilities located at 1140& 8w
Valley Road, San Diego, California (the “Sub-Subkda for 2,700 square feet of office and reseapzts for a
monthly rent payment of approximately $6,000. Paynhobligations under the Sub-Sublease will commexfte
certain tenant improvements to these facilitiescarapleted, which is expected to occur in April 200

Additionally, the Company leases certain officeipquent under operating leases. Total rent experse w
approximately $1.4 million, $1.1 million and $29@(for the years ended December 31, 2008, 2002606,
respectively.
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Approximate annual future minimum operating leaagnpents as of December 31, 2008 are as follows:

Operating

Year: Leases
2009 $1,490,00!
2010 1,615,001
2011 1,665,00!
2012 1,729,001
2013 67,00(
Thereatftel —
Total minimum lease paymer $6,566,00

Material Agreements— In September 2007, the Company entered intGtdmamagard Partnership with
Baxter. Under the terms of the Gammagard PartrgrBlaixter obtained a worldwide, exclusive licersdévelop
and commercialize product combinations of rHUPH#&ith a current Baxter product, GAMMAGARD LIQUID.
Under the terms of the Gammagard Partnership, Bagid the Company a nonrefundable upfront payroént
$10.0 million. Due to the Company’s continuing ilwament obligations, the $10 million upfront payrhams
deferred and is being recognized over the termm@fGammagard Partnership.

Pending successful completion of a series of regland sales milestones, Baxter may make furthikstont
payments totaling $37.0 million to us. In additi®axter will pay royalties on the sales, if anytloé products that
result from the collaboration. The Gammagard Pastrip is applicable to both kit and formulation dmrations.
Baxter will assume all development, manufacturiligical, regulatory, sales and marketing costseuride
Gammagard Partnership, while the Company will lspoesible for the supply of the rHUPH20 enzymeddition,
Baxter has certain product development and comiaération obligations in major markets identifiedthe
Gammagard Partnership.

In February 2007, the Company and Baxter amendedliicexisting agreements relating to HYLENEX and
entered into the HYLENEX Partnership, a new agre#rfog kits and formulations with rHuPH20. Undee tterms
of the HYLENEX Partnership, Baxter paid a nonrefailé upfront payment of $10.0 million and, pending
successful completion of a series of regulatory salds events, Baxter will make milestone payments which
could potentially reach a value of up to $25.0imnill In addition, Baxter will make payments to thempany based
on the sales of products covered under the HYLENE@Xnership. Through December 31, 2008, Baxtergidep
total of $4.5 million of such product-based paynseit January 2009, Baxter prepaid another $5.komibf such
productbased payments. Baxter will also now assume akldgment, manufacturing, clinical, regulatory, se@c
marketing costs of the products covered by the HNEK Partnership. The Company will continue to sydpaxtel
with the API for HYLENEX, and Baxter will fill andinish HYLENEX and hold it for subsequent distrilmit. In
addition, Baxter will obtain a worldwide, exclusilieense to develop and commercialize product coatimns of
rHUPH20 with Baxter hydration fluids and genericairmolecule drugs, with the exception of combioas with
(i) bisphosphonates, (ii) cytostatic and (iii) dgteic chemotherapeutic agents, the rights to whinhe been retaine
by the Company. Additionally, Baxter will make prad-based payments on the sales, if any, of theuats that
result from the collaboration. Due to the Comparggatinuing involvement obligations, the $10.0 roiil upfront
payment was deferred and is being recognized teeterm of the HYLENEX Partnership.

In December 2006, the Company and Roche enteredhiatRoche Partnership for Enhanze Technologyet
the terms of the Roche Partnership, Roche obtainedridwide, exclusive license to develop and coneinéze
product combinations of rHUPH20 and up to thirtBerche target compounds resulting from the partigr§toche
paid $20.0 million as an initial upfront licenseflor the application of rHUPH20 to three pre-defirRoche
biologic targets. Pending the successful completfoa series of clinical, regulatory and sales
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events, Roche will pay the Company further milestowhich could potentially reach a value of up to

$111.0 million. In addition, Roche will pay the Cpamy royalties on product sales for these firgetargets.
Through December 2016, Roche will also have th@mpgb exclusively develop and commercialize rHuBk&th
an additional ten targets to be identified by Roghevided that Roche will be obligated to pay ammng
exclusivity maintenance fees to the Company in otolenaintain its exclusive development rightstfogse targets.
For each of the additional ten targets, Roche nagytipe Company further upfront and milestone paymehup to
$47.0 million per target, as well as royalties ooduct sales for each of these additional ten tardelditionally,
Roche will obtain access to the Company’s expeiskeveloping and applying rHuPH20 to Roche targender
the terms of the Roche Partnership, the Companyobligated to scale up the production of rHUPH20 &n
identify a second source manufacturer that would treeet anticipated production obligations aridfiregn the
partnership. To that end, during 2008, the Compantgred into a Technology Transfer Agreement a@tiracal
Supply Agreement with a second rHUPH20 manufactdites manufacturer has the capacity to produce the
guantities the Company was required to deliver uttgeterms of the Roche Partnership. The techydi@psfer
was completed in 2008 with scale-up and clinicgipty manufacturing planned for 2009.

In August 2008, the Company entered into a ClinBigbply Agreement (the “Cook Agreement”) with Cook
Pharmica LLC (“Cook”). Under the terms of the Codreement, Cook will manufacture certain batchethefAPI
that will be used in clinical trials of certain phact candidates.

In December 2006, the Company amended its Comnh&wgfply Agreement (the “Amendment”) with Avid
Bioservices, Inc. (“Avid”) which was originally esrted into in February 2005. Under the terms ofAhendment,
the Company is committed to certain minimum anmuathases of API equal to two quarters of forechstpply.
In addition, Avid has the right to manufacture aougply a certain percentage of the API that willsed in the
Company’s HYLENEX and Cumulase products. At Decen#de 2008, the Company has a minimum purchase
obligation of approximately $1.0 million.

Legal Contingencies— From time to time the Company is involved indkgctions arising in the normal
course of its business. The Company is not prgssabject to any material litigation nor, to managat’s
knowledge, is any litigation threatened againstGbenpany that collectively is expected to have #enie adverse
effect on the Company’s consolidated cash flowsrftial condition or results of operations.

10. Income Taxes

Significant components of the Company’s net detetax assets at December 31, 2008 and 2007 arenshow
below. A valuation allowance of $49.6 million an28$6 million has been established to offset thede&trred tax
assets as of December 31, 2008 and 2007, resggctgaealization of such assets is uncertain.

2008 2007

Deferred tax asset

Net operating loss carryforwar $ 25,466,000 $ 15,303,00

Deferred revenu 14,566,00 7,639,001

Research and development cre 7,775,001 4,321,00

Shar+based compensatic 929,00( 696,00(

Depreciatior 80,00( 95,00(

Other, ne 743,00( 505,00(
Total deferred tax asse 49,559,00 28,559,00
Valuation allowance for deferred tax ass (49,559,00) (28,559,00)
Net deferred tax asse $ — $ —
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The provision for income taxes on earnings sulifpgagicome taxes differs from the statutory fed@mabme tax
rate at December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006, duesttotiowing:

2008 2007 2006
Federal income tax rate of 34 $(16,544,00) $ (8,125,00) $(5,016,00)
State income tax, net of federal ben (2,839,00i) (1,394,00i) (861,000
Research and development cre (3,099,001 (2,133,00i) (615,000
Tax effect on no-deductible expenses and ot 2,445,001 857,00( 286,00(
Increase in valuation allowan 20,037,00 10,795,00 6,206,001
Benefit due to refundable R&D cre( (63,000 — —

$ (63,000 $ —  $ =

At December 31, 2008, the Company had federal adiflothia tax net operating loss carryforwards of
approximately $77.5 million and $79.8 million, restively. Included in these amounts are federal@alifornia ne
operating losses of approximately $13.9 milliomiltttable to stock option deductions of which tar benefit will
be credited to equity when realized. The federdl@alifornia tax loss carryforwards will begin tepére in 2018
and 2012, respectively, unless previously utilized.

At December 31, 2008, the Company also had fe@@cICalifornia research and development tax credit
carryforwards of approximately $5.6 million and $&illion, respectively. The federal research aadafopment
tax credits will begin to expire in 2024 unlessvoesly utilized. The California research and depehent tax
credits will carryforward indefinitely until utilizd.

Pursuant to Internal Revenue Code Section 382rthaal use of the net operating loss carryforwards
research and development tax credits could bedaiy any greater than 50% ownership change dangghree-
year testing period. As a result of any such owhiprshange, portions of the Comp/s net operating loss
carryforwards and research and development tavitsrak subject to annual limitations. The Compeomypleted a
Section 382 analysis regarding the limitation & tiet operating losses and research and developneetits. Based
upon the analysis, the Company determined that shipechanges occurred in prior years. Howeveratireial
limitations on net operating loss and researchdavelopment tax credit carryforwards will not hamaterial
impact on the future utilization of such carryfords.

The Company adopted the provisions of FIN 48 omdanl, 2007. The adoption of FIN 48 did not imphet
Company’s consolidated financial position or resolt operations. At the date of adoption and atebdwer 31,
2008, the Company’s unrecognized income tax benafitl uncertain tax provisions were not materidlaould
not, if recognized, affect the effective tax rate.

Interest and/or penalties related to uncertainrmetax positions are recognized by the Company as a
component of income tax expense. For the yearsdeDdeember 31, 2008 and 2007, the Company did not
recognize any interest or penalties.

The Company is subject to taxation in the U.S. iangarious state jurisdictions. The Company’s taang for
1998 and forward are subject to examination byt and California tax authorities due to the yamvard of
unutilized net operating losses and research anelag@ment credits.

11. Related Party Transactions

In July 2007, the Company entered into the 11388e&ase with Avanir for Avanir's excess leased fties in
San Diego, California. The 11388 Sublease expimefligust 2008. As a result, in July 2007, the Comypentered
into the Lease with BC Sorrento for these fac#itierough January 2013. Connie L. Matsui, a direatohe
Company, and her husband have a controlling owigeisterest in an entity that holds a minority owstép
position in BC Sorrento. In addition, this entityrently serves as the managing member of BC Sarr&he
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transaction with BC Sorrento was reviewed and ammidyy the Company’s Board of Directors in accoogawith
the Company’s related party transaction policy. Thase commenced in September 2008. The Compad\Bgai
Sorrento approximately $281,000 and $0 for theyeaded December 31, 2008 and 2007, respectively.

In December 2006, Halozyme entered into a licegseeanent with a related party, Nektar Therapeutlcs
Corporation (“Nektar”) under which the Company oial a license to certain intellectual properthtgyand
proprietary technology of Nektar. Nektar’s co-foendChief Scientific Officer and Director, Dr. JoRatton, is
currently a member of the Company’s Board of DiwextDr. Patton recused himself from the segmefriseo
various Board of Directors meetings at which thémsaction was discussed, evaluated or approvedCompany
paid Nektar approximately $73,000 and $75,000Hentears ended December 31, 2008 and 2007. Urelézrths
of this agreement, the Company is obligated to ntak&in payments in the future upon achievingatepecified
milestones and royalties on product sales.

12. Summary of Unaudited Quarterly Financial Information

The following is a summary of the Company’s unaedliguarterly statement of operations data derixeu f
unaudited consolidated financial statements inadudehe Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q:

Quarters Ended

2008 (Unaudited) March 31, June 30, September 30, December 31,
Total revenue $ 1,805,551 $ 1,434,21¢ $ 2,462,221 $ 3,062,17
Total operating expens $12,638,98  $12,808,78 $13,661,94  $20,089,12
Net loss $(9,953,99) $(11,002,39) $(10,872,15) $(16,825,65)
Net loss per share, basic and dilu $ (0.19) $ 0.19 3 (0.1 % (0.2
Shares used in computing net loss per shar

basic and dilute: 78,300,31 79,454,49 80,293,80 81,213,98

Quarters Ended

2007 (Unaudited) March 31, June 30, September 30 December 31,
Total revenue $ 810,21 $ 70851t $ 94288. $ 1,337,90
Total operating expens $ 4,890,621 $ 6,542,83( $ 9,252,533 $11,263,73
Net loss $ (3,357,30) $(4,801,70) $(7,028,78) $ (8,708,39)
Net loss per share, basic and dilu $ (0.0 % 0.0 $ (0.09 % (0.11)
Shares used in computing net loss per shar

basic and dilute: 69,984,93 73,217,96 76,502,86 77,459,80
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Consent of Independent Registered Public Accountingirm

We consent to the incorporation by reference inRbgistration Statements on Forms S-8 (Nos. 333d9,9333-133829 and 333-152914)
and Forms S-3 (Nos. 333-120448 and 333-155787)ofeports dated March 11, 2009, with respect ¢octtnsolidated financial statements
of Halozyme Therapeutics, Inc., and the effectigsnaf internal control over financial reportingHdilozyme Therapeutics, Inc., included in
this Annual Report (Form 10-K) for the year endest&mber 31, 2008.

/sl Ernst & Young LLP

San Diego, California
March 11, 2009



EXHIBIT 31.1
CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

I, Jonathan E. Lim, M.D., Chief Executive Officdridalozyme Therapeutics, Inc. (the “Registrantd,tereby certify in accordance with 18
U.S.C 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 30205arbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:

1.
2.

| have reviewed this Annual Report on Forn-K of Halozyme Therapeutics, In

Based on my knowledge, this report does notatio any untrue statement of a material fact ot torstate a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circuntgts.under which such statements were made, nigadisg with respect to the
period covered by this repo

Based on my knowledge, the financial statememtd other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the Registrant as of, andifie periods presented in this rep

The Registrant’s other certifying officers drate responsible for establishing and maintaimisglosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&))%nd internal control over financial reportirag @efined in Exchange Act Rules
13e&15(f) and 15-15(f)) for the Registrant and han

a) designed such disclosure controls and proesdor caused such disclosure controls and puoesdo be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatmeg to the Registrant, including its consolidhgribsidiaries, is made known to
us by others within those entities, particularlyidg the period in which this report is being pneggh anc

b) designed such internal control over finahagaorting, or caused such internal control owearicial reporting to be designed under
our supervision, to provide reasonable assuram@ading the reliability of financial reporting attte preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordancegeitlerally accepted accounting princip

c) evaluated the effectiveness of the Registaisclosure controls and procedures and predéntthis report our conclusion about
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls adgatures, as of the end of the period coveredibydport based on such
evaluation; ant

d) disclosed in this report any change in tkegiRrant’s internal control over financial repogithat occurred during the Registrant’s
most recent fiscal quarter (the Registrant’s fofigbal quarter in the case of an annual repost) tias materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the Redst’s internal control over financial reportir

The Registrant’s other certifying officers drfthve disclosed, based on our most recent evafuat internal control over financial
reporting, to the Registrant’s auditors and thetarainmittee of Registrant’s board of directors gersons performing the equivalent

functions):

a) all significant deficiencies and materialakeesses in the design or operation of internairabaver financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the Regigd’s ability to record, process, summarize and refpmahcial information; an

b) any fraud, whether or not material, thabirres management or other employees who have His@gn role in the Registrant’s
internal control over financial reportin

Date: March 13, 2009 /s/ Jonathan E. Lim, M.D.

Jonathan E. Lim, M.D
Chief Executive Officer



EXHIBIT 31.2
CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER

I, David A. Ramsay, Chief Financial Officer of Halone Therapeutics, Inc. (the “Registrant”), do bgreertify in accordance with 18 U.S.C
1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of theaBas-Oxley Act of 2002, that:

1.
2.

| have reviewed this Annual Report on Forn-K of Halozyme Therapeutics, In

Based on my knowledge, this report does notatio any untrue statement of a material fact ot torstate a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circuntgts.under which such statements were made, nigadisg with respect to the
period covered by this repo

Based on my knowledge, the financial statememtd other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the Registrant as of, andifie periods presented in this rep

The Registrant’s other certifying officers drate responsible for establishing and maintaimisglosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&))%nd internal control over financial reportirag @efined in Exchange Act Rules
13e¢15(f) and 15-15(f)) for the Registrant and han

a) designed such disclosure controls and proesdor caused such disclosure controls and puoesdo be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatmeg to the Registrant, including its consolidhgribsidiaries, is made known to
us by others within those entities, particularlyidg the period in which this report is being pneggh anc

b) designed such internal control over finahagaorting, or caused such internal control owearicial reporting to be designed under
our supervision, to provide reasonable assuram@ading the reliability of financial reporting attte preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordancegeitlerally accepted accounting princip

c) evaluated the effectiveness of the Registaisclosure controls and procedures and predéntthis report our conclusion about
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls andgatures, as of the end of the period coveredibydport based on such
evaluation; ant

d) disclosed in this report any change in tkgiRrant's internal control over financial repogithat occurred during the Registrant’s
most recent fiscal quarter (the Registrant’s fofigbal quarter in the case of an annual repost tias materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the Redst’s internal control over financial reportir

The Registrant’s other certifying officers drfthve disclosed, based on our most recent evafuat internal control over financial
reporting, to the Registrant’s auditors and thetaxainmittee of Registrant’s board of directors gersons performing the equivalent
functions):

a) all significant deficiencies and materialakeesses in the design or operation of internairabaver financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the Regigd’s ability to record, process, summarize and refpmahcial information; an

b) any fraud, whether or not material, thabirres management or other employees who have His@gn role in the Registrant’s
internal control over financial reportin

Date: March 13, 2009 /s/ David A. Ramsay

David A. Ramsay
Chief Financial Officer



EXHIBIT 32

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of HalozymeeTdpeutics, Inc. (the “Registrant”) on Form K @der the Year ended December 31, 2(
as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commiseinthe date hereof (the “Report”), I, Jonathahit, M.D., Chief Executive Officer of
the Registrant, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. 1280adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sask@rkey Act of 2002, that, to the best of
my knowledge:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirementsSefction 13(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of41@% U.S.C. 78m); an

(2) The information contained in the Reportlfapresents, in all material respects, the finahcondition and results of operations of
the Registrant

Dated: March 13, 2009 /s/ Jonathan E. Lim, M.D.
Jonathan E. Lim, M.D
Chief Executive Officer

In connection with the Annual Report of HalozymeeTdpeutics, Inc. (the “Registrant”) on Form K @er the Year ended December 31, 2(
as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commiseinthe date hereof (the “Report”), |, David ARy, Chief Financial Officer of the
Registrant, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. 1350adaspted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanésy@xt of 2002, that, to the best of my
knowledge:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirementsSefction 13(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of41@% U.S.C. 78m); an

(2) The information contained in the Reportljapresents, in all material respects, the finahcondition and results of operations of
the Registrant

Dated: March 13, 2009 /s/ David A. Ramsay
David A. Ramsay
Chief Financial Officer




